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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the

securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this

report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”)
of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report

misleading.

ERABEXRZFARL2ATHZA
GEM K&

GEMHYEN > DNRAFPEATRM—ELTH
WmE - WEARMALBEMERIAETHQE
TERAEREAR FERENATIETHERE
RZERXRANETRE  YELBFEAFNE
BREAEHRERE -

HAAGEM LT AREEAPNEAT » £GEM
BENBESFTAESBEREIMEREE 2 HK
FRANTEERB R  BREARIFEGEM
BEENIESSASRBENTS

BB G RGBT ERAFIRBEZTH L EZ
ABBTRE - B REEE L7 BN T T KT
1|55 - I BFIER T BT A A #R &5 £ 2P 2 1 1]
BB B T 2 AL 3 A far RE A% F 28 T 51 B2 (1]
RAAELIELT »

A & 19 & RTS8 IR T GEM 38 %5 _E T 4
BIN[GEM_LTTAER )T F|# -~ 5 iR F L
EREFEIRER A IR ER -+ AL T REZER G IR
RAMEFE([EF /A EFE | BERARE0E
AR RNEFIHAEZEEE - SEFEIEL —
YEEEHE  ERRBRTHRANE » DS
HEHEEEZ A EER T  KFREH
HiEK s B FEEREMAMER  EXSH
A BB (BRI E R o



CONTENTS
5 &

Corporate Information

Financial Highlights

Chairlady’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

REIER

MHEE

TRHEE

EEE TR LT

EERSRERABER

EREARE

ERensE

B ZBE RS

RERRK

k1
o)

i

ES

o)

=)

Yoz

St

S

w

A RBIRER

S
B
it
P

3
op
N
k>
=
ftin
Pl

AR M

Page

16

21

43

56

63

64

65

67

69

71

2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT %3



2

CORPORATE INFORMATION
QA EH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QA EH
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
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Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8628

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China CITIC Bank International Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
CTBC Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

A summary of the results, assets,

appropriate, is set out below.

liabilities and equity of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as

TXEHINAEENBERLAVRFEZEE &
E ARERESMEZ(IREAC TREERM
BRERIENBES

RTESEHAE) o

RESULTS £
For the year ended 31st March
BE=A=t—HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016
—T-hF ZZT-NF ZT—+F T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAET
(Restated)
(=E510)
Revenue WA 3,021,718 2,397,010 1,655,450 1,295,754 1,235,797
Profit before tax Rk B A ) 141,237 137,578 131,581 42,890 10,026
Income tax expenses  FTE&i % H (30,261) (27,425) (23,370) (8,133) (7,753)
Profit for the year RECEER 2
from continuing F WA
operations 110,976 110,153 108,211 34,757 2,273
Profit/(loss) for the year #RIF&EERK
from a discontinued FREFH
operation (E518) — — — (4,136) (273,603)
Profit/(loss) attributable 72 &) B3R fE(L
to the shareholders of &7,/ (E#E)
the Company 110,976 110,153 108,211 30,621 (271,330)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

BE - AEKES

As at 31st March
R=B=+—H

2019 2018 2017 2016

—E—AE —N\F —+F T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FH&T FET FET

Total assets BEARTE 2,788,473 1,815,218 1,745,315 1,230,709 1,294,194

Total liabilities B fEeE (1,700,009) | (826,418)  (818,475)  (387,501)  (479,862)
Equity attributable to AR IR FE(

shareholders of the R
Company 1,088,464 988,800 926,840 843,208 814,332
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CHAIRLADY’S STATEMENT
TEHES

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of North Asia Strategic
Holdings Limited (“Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) and its audited financial results for the financial year
ended 31st March 2020 (the “year”).

GENERAL OVERVIEW

Global economy has undergone a recession from worldwide
lockdown started from the first quarter of 2020 after the outbreak of
coronavirus in Wuhan in late 2019. It dragged down China’'s GDP to
a negative 6.8% year on year contraction in the first quarter of 2020.
The response to coronavirus were not instantaneous and contempt
in certain countries that ultimately leading to pandemic. The Group
had taken swift actions in this response and taken appropriate
measures such as home office policy and provision of disinfection

materials to staff such that the business can keep running as usual.

During the year, the Group recorded a consolidated net profit of
approximately HK$111.0 million and a consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$3,021.7 million, representing an increase of 0.7%

and 26.1% from last year, respectively.

DIVISION HIGHLIGHTS
i) Hi-Tech Distribution and Services Division

During the year, the division achieved a net profit of
approximately HK$133.4 million, representing an increase of
13.8% from approximately HK$117.2 million in last year, and
a revenue of approximately HK$2,949.5 million, representing
an increase of 26.1% from approximately HK$2,338.7 million
in last year. The increase in revenue was mainly due to the
fulfillment of huge unprecedented orders of SMT equipment
received from a key customer that has executed strategic
purchasing plan. The division also broke the revenue
record in the year which was achieved by our cohort in
successfully securing orders from our major customers. The
division management team will continue to maintain a close
partnership and collaboration with its key business partner,
Fuji Corporation, a manufacturer of high precision, cutting
edge technology SMT machines and other industry leading
peripheral equipment suppliers and business partners. During
the year, the division gained new products distributorship and
had set up new regional office in Singapore to develop South

East Asia markets.
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CHAIRLADY’S STATEMENT
ETEHES

ii) Leasing Division
During the year, the division recorded a net profit of
approximately HK$20.8 million on a revenue of approximately
HK$72.2 million, representing a decrease of 0.1% and an
increase of 23.9% from approximately HK$20.9 million and
HK$58.3 million respectively in last year. The increase in
revenue was mainly because many customers became
cautious and used operating lease arrangements to meet
their production line expansion requirements as a result
of the trade war between the United States and China that
caused many electronic equipment manufacturers to consider
moving production lines out of China or delay their capital
expenditure planning. As at 31st March 2020, the aggregate
carrying amount of finance lease receivables amounted to

approximately HK$192.6 million.

OUTLOOK

Although the trade war between the United States and China had
achieved some progress and the first phase deal was signed in
January 2020, the trade deal was put at risk as President Trump
condemned China’s early handling of coronavirus outbreak in
Wuhan in late 2019 that ultimately causing serious death and job

losses in the United States.

Under the circumstances, the world economic outlook for
the coming year is full of uncertainty. Before the successful
development of vaccine for coronavirus, recovery of worldwide
economy may not take place and lockdown may still be the only

effective measures to control of spread of infection of coronavirus.

In March 2020, the United Federal Reserve had reduced the
benchmark interest rate to zero and launched US$700 billion
quantitative easing program to combat the recession driven by
coronavirus. Other countries have similar quantitative easing plans
or fiscal and monetary stimulus measures. Our Group will strive to
monitor the global economic environment under the coronavirus
pandemic and post lockdown recovery of market and will try to gain
further market share of our hi-tech distribution and services division

by providing better services and enhancing the marketing program.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR
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CHAIRLADY’S STATEMENT
ITREHREE

The leasing division is expected to have a moderate growth in
anticipation of the growing operating lease market that we can
offer flexible supply of SMT machines to our customers during the
uncertain economic environment. Going forward, the Group seeks
to continue to grow its business and to enhance the operational
efficiency of varies business divisions with an aim to improve their

profitability and increase shareholders’ value.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude
to our business partners, our customers, the Board and our
employees for their trust and support in the year. On behalf of the
Board, | would also like to offer our utmost appreciation to our
shareholders for their confidence in our Company. We believe our
long-term investment strategy, setting operating goals, motivating
our staff and sharing success with business partners will be

essential elements for the Group’s success.

Zhang Yifan

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 18th June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31st March 2020 (the “year”), the
Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$3,021,718,000, representing a 26.1% growth from approximately
HK$2,397,010,000 in last year. The increase in consolidated revenue
was mainly due to approximately 26.1% year-on-year increase in
revenue from our hi-tech distribution and services division. With the
continuous effort of the Group’s sales and management teams and
their solid expertise in the SMT market, we successfully maintain our
leading market position in the SMT industry. Besides, the Group’s
leasing division continued its growth and contributed a revenue of
approximately HK$72,205,000, representing an increase of 23.9%
from approximately HK$58,281,000 in last year.

During the year, the Group recorded a consolidated net profit of
approximately HK$110,976,000, representing a slight increase of
0.7% from approximately HK$110,153,000 in last year. The Group’s
gross profit ratio slightly decreased from last year’'s 15.9% to 13.2%
in this year. The consolidated net profit showed relatively lower rate
of growth than the consolidated revenue mainly because the gross

profit was shrunken under the keen competition in the SMT market.

Leasing division continued to play an important role in supporting the
growth of the Group’s business in hi-tech distribution and services
division and more customers opt for leasing of machines under the

adverse impact of trade war.

The Group’s total operating costs increased by 13.3% from last year’s
approximately HK$245,373,000 to approximately HK$277,977,000
in this year. The increase in operating costs was mainly due
to the recognition of share option expenses of approximately
HK$3,433,000 in Group’s staff costs, impairment of trade receivables
of approximately HK$1,575,000 and foreign exchange loss of
approximately HK$18,485,000. Since the Group’s management team
has implemented effective cost control, the total operating cost to the
Group’s revenue ratio decreased from last year's 10.2% to 9.2% in this

year.

During the year, the Group recorded basic earnings per share
of approximately HK40.7 cents, representing 0.7% increase from
HK40.4 cents in last year.

Below is a summary of the financial and business highlights of our
business divisions. The profit/loss figures, disclosed below, do not
include any intra-group sales and charges, as they are eliminated

upon consolidation.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

HI-TECH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES DIVISION

The Group conducts its hi-tech distribution and services business
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, American Tec Company
Limited (“AMT”). AMT is a leader in Asia in the business of
distribution, sales and service of SMT equipment, semiconductor
manufacturing equipment and software on manufacturing control,
with a history of more than 30 years serving its customers in the hi-
technology sector. AMT’s team of more than 230 engineers and
customer care staff are in more than 25 cities in China, South-
East Asia, Vietnam and India. Customers include most of the
major telecom and electronic equipment manufacturers in the
world. AMT is especially well positioned with the growing base of
Chinese manufacturers. Its suppliers include leading equipment and

solutions manufacturers from Asia, the United States and Europe.

During the year, the revenue of the division was approximately
HK$2,949,513,000 representing an increase of 26.1% from
approximately HK$2,338,729,000 in last year. The increase in
revenue was mainly due to the fulfillment of huge unprecedented
orders of SMT equipment received from a key customer that has
executed strategic purchasing plan in response to the abrupt

changes in manufacturing under the China-United States trade war.

During the year, the division’s direct machine sales were
approximately HK$2,828,013,000, representing an increase of
29.9% from approximately HK$2,177,417,000 in last year the
fulfillment of huge unprecedented orders of SMT equipment
received from a key customer that has executed strategic
purchasing plan in response to the abrupt changes in manufacturing
under the China-United States trade war. The division’s spare
part sales and software sales were approximately HK$85,342,000,
representing a decrease of 9.7% from approximately HK$94,556,000
in last year. However, the division’s commission and other services
income, which recorded approximately of HK$36,158,000,
representing a decrease of 45.8% from approximately of
HK$66,756,000 in last year. The decline in commission and other
services income was mainly due to one of our local key customers
had a significant commission order for its new smartphone

production factories in last year which was not repeated in the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

During the year, the division recorded a net profit of approximately
HK$133,381,000, representing an increase of 13.8% from
approximately HK$117,253,000 in last year. AMT's management
has taken various measures to maintain operating cost efficiency
and has achieved expected profitability despite an increasing

challenging market.

LEASING DIVISION

The Group conducts its leasing business through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, North Asia Financial Leasing (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. (“NAFL”) in China Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone and Fuji
North Asia Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“FNAFL”) in
Qianhai Shenzhen-Hongkong Modern Service Industry Cooperation
Zone. The leasing division provides finance and operating lease
arrangements to customers of the Group’s hi-tech distribution and

services division and projects.

During the year, the division generated a revenue from the leasing
business of approximately HK$72,205,000, representing an increase
of 23.9% from approximately HK$58,281,000 in last year and
recorded a net profit of approximately HK$20,837,000, representing
a decrease of 0.1% from approximately HK$20,859,000 in last year.
Increase in both revenue and net profit were mainly contributed
by the growth in operating lease business. As at 31st March
2020, the aggregate carrying amount of finance lease receivables
was HK$192,589,000, representing a decrease of 10.5% from
HK$215,218,000 as at 31st March 2019. The decrease in the
principal amount of finance lease receivables was mainly due to the
division’s lease business engaged more resources in the operating

lease business during the year.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

OUTLOOK
Overall Summary

The coronavirus pandemic creates unprecedent uncertainty to world
economy. The health crisis is inflicting high and rising human costs
worldwide. The virus containment policy of lockdowns in combating
the coronavirus pandemic has severely impacted on economic
activities. According to April 2020 Economic Outlook, International
Monetary Fund (“IMF”) projected that the global economy will
contract sharply by 3% in 2020 against a growth of 2.9% in 2019
based on optimistic assumptions that the pandemic fades in the
second half of 2020 and containment efforts can be gradually
unwound. Generally, the management expects the economy
outlook for the coming year is worsening. The main challenge is the
recovery of economy after the release from lockdown. As we have
seen the cutting of electronic products and smartphone orders in
2020 due to coronavirus lockdown, the smartphone manufacturers
in China also delayed or reduced its production line expansion
schedule. As such, we expect the SMT machinery demand will
be reduced in the forthcoming quarters. In long run, the upgrade
from 4G to 5G telecom network offers an opportunity for SMT
industry in the coming years following the wide range upgrade of
mobile devices and telecom station equipment. Some of our major
customers are leading telecommunication companies in China which
will play a vital role in the 5G transformation and provide immense
opportunities to the SMT industry and we will embrace the 5G
transformation opportunities and continue to manage cash, cost and
risks and, to build our strength by working with our management

teams to improve capability and efficiency.
Hi-Tech Distribution and Services Division

There is hope after coronavirus pandemic that the pandemic can
act as a driver for technological advancement. People see the
advantage of adopting 5G technology in changing their way of
living and working. The fast 5G internet connectivity enable remote

working by virtual meetings and conference.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

Smartphone market, major market for our customers, as
expected, was significantly impacted by the pandemic. Per
preliminary data from the International Data Corporation
(IDC) Worldwide Quarterly Mobile Phone Tracker, the
worldwide smartphone shipments decreased by 11.7%
year-on-year in the first quarter of 2020. The largest decline region
was China, representing 20.3% year-on-year. Continuous lockdown
and closures of retail shops across the globe had frozen the short-
term smartphone demand but hopefully a rebound in future demand

on smartphones is expected after the coronavirus pandemic.

On China 5G base station market, another major market for our
customers, which is certain that the pandemic slows down the
speed of 5G base station installation in 2020. However, after
successful containing the coronavirus in the first four months, China
will speed up 5G deployment. Per MobileWorldLive Intelligence Brief
on 20th March 2020, China Unicom and China Telecom targeted to
build altogether 250,000 5G base stations in the third quarter 2020,

earlier than their original plan.

We will continue to monitor the latest development and work closely
with our partners to come up with more competitive and innovative
solutions and invest in our service and support infrastructure and
systems so as to attain total customer satisfaction and customer
retention. At the same time, we will also closely monitor our
working capital, gross profit margin, operating cost and industry
developments with a view to maintain our cash flow and profitability,

as well as the long-term sustainability and growth of our business.
Leasing Division

Coronavirus has spread across the world with significant negative
impact on the leasing business, especially the finance lease
business. Against the backdrop of uncontrollable threat of epidemic
haunting the world and uncertain future outlook, the customers have

adopted a more conservative investment strategy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

Nevertheless, with the epidemic gradually under control in the
Greater China regions and full operation and production resumption
in China, the enterprises engaged in the leasing industry can enjoy
the corresponding benefits mainly in the following aspects: new
demand for certain electronics brought about by the growth in
medical and protective equipment; enhanced demand for computer
and gaming electronics due to quarantine measures; temporary
transfer of certain orders from foreign to domestic production led
by the anti-epidemic and quarantine measures implemented by
overseas countries. These combined factors have partially offset
the adverse impacts from the substantial decrease in the demand
for consumer electronics, including smartphones, and industrial
electronics in terms of security and lighting, as well as the negative
impacts of China-US comprehensive confrontation on the demand

for semiconductor and trading products.

We consider that despite the considerable uncertainties over the
epidemic and economic outlook, as an equipment leasing company
that can promptly respond to urgent order request, we can still see
plenty of business opportunities. Besides, it is not envisaged that
the results of the leasing business will fluctuate significantly in the

coming year.

Leveraging on the Group’s platforms in Hong Kong and Singapore,
extensive industry experiences as well as high efficiency in
resources integration and project execution capabilities of the
leasing team, we consider that for operating lease business, we
can maintain a relatively excellent operations with the development
focus on SMT equipment in the coming year; and for finance
lease division, we will closely monitor the international situation,
market development and foreign policy adjustments, in order to
capture suitable business opportunities in semiconductor and other

industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEENWE D

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group generally finance its operation with
internally generated resources and banking facilities provided by its
principal bankers in Hong Kong. As at 31st March 2020, the Group
had a secured floating interest bank borrowing of approximately
HK$48,598,000 (2019: Nil), which is denominated in US Dollar
and certain secured other borrowings of HK$11,410,000 (2019:
Nil), which are denominated in RMB. As at 31st March 2020, the
Group had banking facilities of approximately HK$990,828,000
(2019: approximately HK$765,402,000) from several banks for
trade financing. As at 31st March 2020, banking facilities of
approximately HK$678,956,000 were utilised by the Group (2019:
approximately HK$332,953,000). These facilities were secured by
corporate guarantees of approximately HK$1,054,109,000 (2019:
approximately HK$777,088,000) provided by the Company. As
at 31st March 2020, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$2,788,473,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,815,218,000)
and total liabilities of approximately HK$1,700,009,000 (2019:
approximately HK$826,418,000). The gearing ratio of the Group,
which was calculated as total liabilities over total assets was 61.0%
(2019: 45.5%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March 2020, pledged deposits of HK$777,000 (2019: Nil)
were held as security at a bank in respect of performance bonds
in favour of certain contract customers. The guarantees given by
the Group to certain banks in respect of performance bonds and
standby letter of credit in favour of certain contract customers and a
supplier amounted to HK$8,824,000 (2019: HK$1,403,000).

NET ASSET VALUE

Consolidated net asset value per ordinary share attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$3.99
as at 31st March 2020, increased by HK$0.36 from approximately
HK$3.63 as at 31st March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31st March 2020, the Group employed 302 (2019: 262)
staff. Salaries and annual bonuses are determined according to
positions and performance of the employees. Remuneration policies
are reviewed annually by the management and remuneration
packages are structured to take into account the comparable
level of the market. The Group provides on-the-job training and
training subsidies to its employees in addition to pension schemes
and medical insurance. Total staff costs including contribution to
retirement benefit schemes incurred during the year amounted to
approximately HK$147,556,000 (2019: HK$124,424,000).

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to Directors, employees and
eligible participants who contributed or will contribute to the Group.
Details of the share option scheme are set out in Report of the

Directors under the section of “Equity — Linked Agreements”.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREEAEESN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Zhang Yifan

Ms. Zhang Yifan, aged 39, joined the Company in November 2014
as an executive Director. She was further appointed as Chairlady of
the Company on 23rd June 2016. Her appointment was continued
for another three years commencing from 6th November 2017. Ms.
Zhang had completed a diploma in International Business from
Shanghai Ocean University. She is also the chairlady of nomination
committee and a member of remuneration committee of the

Company.
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming

Mr. Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming, aged 55, joined the Company in
February 2015 as an independent non-executive Director. He was
re-designated as an executive Director on 24th February 2016. Upon
Mr. Tsui’'s re-designation, he was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group’s hi-tech distribution and services division until
his appointment as the Chief Executive Officer of this division on
9th October 2017. His appointment was continued for another three
years commencing from 24th February 2019. During the period
from January 2006 to May 2014, he has been an executive director,
the chief financial officer and company secretary of International
Mining Machinery Holdings Limited, a company whose shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with a stock code
of 1683 until 2013. He has comprehensive operating and financial
experience in hi-tech distribution and services business. Mr. Tsui
obtained his Master’s degree in Accounting and Finance from the
London School of Economics & Political Science, UK and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from University of Southern
California, U.S. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 1995 and the American Institute

of Certified Public Accountants since 1995.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse, aged 65, joined the Company in
February 2013 as an independent non-executive Director. His
appointment was continued for another three years commencing
from 19th February 2019. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of LifeTech Scientific Corporation, a company
previously listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with a stock
code of 8122 and thereafter transferred to the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with a stock code of 1302, with effect from 22nd
October 2011. Mr. Liang served as special consultant on campus
development at United International College (“UIC”) in Zhuhai, the
PRC since October 2011. He was the executive vice president —
Finance of TWS Industrial (Holdings) Ltd since 6th October 2011, a
private company engaged in battery production. He later acted as
consultant from August 2013 to December 2013. He returned to full
time teaching as associate professor at UIC on September 2013.
Mr. Liang has extensive experience in finance and accounting. From
October 2009 to September 2011, Mr. Liang was the managing
director of the financial planning and development department
at UIC and was responsible for serving financial advisory and
human resources management functions. During October 2005 to
December 2008, he was a director at Shenzhen Alclear Consulting
Limited, a company engaging in financial, corporate management
and investment consultancy services, and was responsible for
developing accounting training in the PRC. Between August 2001
and October 2005, Mr. Liang served various roles at Skyworth
Digital Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with a stock code of 751, including as the group’s
financial controller and company secretary in charge of finance and
management information system functions. From November 1993 to
August 2001, he was the finance manager at Hongkong International
Terminals Limited for Yantian International Container Terminals, both
companies being container terminal companies managed by the
Hutchison Port Holdings Trust. During the period from June 2014
to June 2015, Mr. Liang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Animal Healthcare Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with a stock code of
940. Mr. Liang completed a diploma in business management from
Hong Kong Baptist College in December 1977. He also obtained a
Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from University of Texas,
Austin in May 1981. Mr. Liang later obtained a Bachelor’'s degree
in Language and Translation from Hong Kong Open University in
December 2007. Mr. Liang is a member of the Texas Society of
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants)
since June 1982 and Association of Certified Chartered Accountants
(ACCA) since May 1982. Mr. Liang is the chairman of the audit
committee and remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(continued)
Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King, aged 58, joined the Company in February
2013 as an independent non-executive Director. His appointment
was continued for another three years commencing from 19th
February 2019. He was appointed as a director and deputy chief
executive of Dan Form Holdings Company Limited (“Dan Form”) in
October 1994, and re-designated as its non-executive director in
October 2012 until his resignation on 22nd December 2016. Dan
Form (now known as Asiasec Properties Limited) is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with a stock code of 271 and
owns significant property interests in Hong Kong. Between 1999
and 2007, Mr. Kon was also an independent non-executive director
of Jingwei Textile Machinery Company Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with a stock code of 350.
Mr. Kon has been involved in the planning of many large-scale
investments and development projects in the PRC and Hong Kong
and has over 27 years’ experience in investment and management
in manufacturing industries and property development. He also
has extensive experience in securities trading, corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions and corporate restructuring. Mr. Kon
graduated from Middlesex University in the United Kingdom with a
Bachelor’s degree in Business Studies in 1987. Mr. Kon is a member
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination

committee of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(continued)
Joseph Chan Nap Kee

Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee, aged 59, joined the Company in
February 2013 as a non-executive Director. He was re-designated
as an independent non-executive Director on 4th March 2016, and
further appointed as an additional member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. His appointment was continued for another three
years commencing from 4th March 2019. Mr. Chan has over 30
years of experience in commercial and investment banking and
asset management. He is a founding partner of Oriental Patron
Financial Group which was founded in 1993. He is also an executive
director of Oriental Patron Asia Limited and a non-executive director
of Oriental Patron Securities Limited. Oriental Patron Asia Limited is
the investment manager of OP Financial Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with a stock
code of 1140. Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director of
Kaisun Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange with a stock code of 8203 in September
2008. He is currently the chairman and executive director,
member of remuneration committee and nomination and corporate
governance committee of Kaisun Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan is
also a non-executive director of Hainan Meilan International Airport
Company Limited (formerly known as Regal International Airport
Group Company Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with a stock code of 357 since
October 2007. On social services, Mr. Chan is a member of Hubei
Provincial Political Consultative Conference, chairman of Hong Kong
Energy, Mining and Commodities Association Limited, chairman of
Silk Road Economic Development Research Center, vice chairman
of China Hong Kong Economic Trading International Association,
vice president of Federation of Hong Kong Hubei Associations,
chairman of Banking, Finance & Securities Committee of Hong Kong
Macau and Myanmar Chamber of Commerce & Industry, honorary
advisor of Xinjiang Association of Hong Kong and executive vice
president of the Hong Kong Poverty Alleviation Association Limited.
Mr. Chan holds licenses of Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4
(advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance), and
Type 9 (asset management) under the SFO (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). He received Master of Science Degree majoring in
international marketing from the University of Strathclyde, Bachelor
of Science Degree in Aviation Management from Coventry University
and a Diploma in China Investment and Trade from Peking
University.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREEAEESN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Li Zhen, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Li Zhen, aged 48, joined the Company in December 2014. He
is responsible for the operations of leasing division. Mr. Li has over
20 years of experience in project management such as nuclear
power plant construction; and in particular he has rich experience
in project management, company daily operation, investment and
financing management. He holds a master's degree in Business
Administration from Tsinghua University and a bachelor’'s degree in

Engineering from Nanhua University.
Law Wai Fai, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Law Wai Fai, aged 52, joined the Company in June 2013. Mr.
Law has extensive professional experience in financial management,
investor relations, company secretarial and corporate governance,
in particular over 19 years of accounting and company secretarial
experience at listed companies in Hong Kong. He holds a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute

of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEERRE

The Company endeavours to maintain high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders, and follows the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The Board will continue reviewing and updating its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure compliance with

applicable codes and standards.

Throughout the year ended 31st March 2020 (the “year”),
the Company complied with all the Code provisions with the
exceptions addressed below and, where appropriate, adopted the

recommended best practices set out in the Code.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. However, the Board’s decisions are implemented
under the leadership of the Chairlady with the involvement and
support of the chief executive officer(s) and general manager(s) of
the Company’s operating companies. The Board believes that the
balance of authority and division of responsibility are adequately
ensured by the operations of the Board and management which

comprise experienced and high calibre individuals.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing set
out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required
Standard”) as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Required

Standard during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEABE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31st March 2020, the Board comprised five Directors, with two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-
third of the Board. The composition of the Board during the year is

set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Zhang Yifan (Chairlady)

Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Joseph Chan Nap Kee

Biographical details including changes of information of current
Directors are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and

Senior Management” on pages 16 to 20 to this annual report.
Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic
means of communication at least four times every year to determine
overall strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly,
interim and annual results, budgets and other significant matters.
At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings are given to all
Directors, who are all given an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from formal meetings,
matters requiring Board approval are also arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions. Senior management from time
to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary
takes detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of

matters discussed and decisions resolved at the meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings (continued)

The Directors can seek independent professional advice in
performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary.
According to the current Board’s practices, should a potential
conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder of the
Company or Director arise, the matter is discussed in a Board
meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest
should be present at meetings dealing with conflict issues. When
the Board considers any proposal or transaction in which a Director
has a conflict of interest, the Director should declare his interest

and abstains from voting.
Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

Eight Board meetings and one general meeting were held during
the year with an average attendance rate of 90% and 100%
respectively. The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings

and the general meeting are set out below:

Exegel(#)

WEFE  BEEURETERERSRKBIEX
BER BRAAXAQARAE - REEKEFZHE
B MRS RARAEIERRREEZBEN
2ER - AZFESREFTSER LW Mk
BEREMABRRE - WENSFHRZBILIEH
TEFRHFEEERMAECEH HEFEZ
BEERETBANZERZEMEZARZE
EREFTERRENERRERE -

ERRBRHERR

WAREER KRBT \REEeeEL—ARE
Ke FHERFEES RN AI0% Z100% » FES
HEEECHRMRERG ZBERSEINOT

Directors’ attendance/meetings held
ESHE ETEERE

Board Meetings General Meeting

EEEggR BRAE

Executive Directors HITES

Zhang Yifan w—l 8/8 1/1
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming ®EHR 8/8 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse REER 7/8 1/1
Kenneth Kon Hiu King T 5/8 1/1
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PR <7 B 8/8 1/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEABE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Roles and responsibilities

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company. They are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board is accountable to shareholders for the strategic
development of the Group with the goal of maximizing long-term
shareholders’ value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.
Given the diversity and volume of the Company’s business,
responsibilities for execution and daily operations are delegated to

management.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. The Board is of reasonable size
and composition to provide checks and balances that safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole. All the
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s

affairs.

During the year, the executive Directors were responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s operations. These
Directors conducted regular meetings with the senior management
of the Company and its subsidiaries, at which operational issue
and financial performance were evaluated. The non-executive
Directors provided the Company with a wide range of expertise and
experience. They brought advice and judgment on issues relating to
the Group’s strategy, performance, risk and management process,
and corporate governance through their contribution at Board and

committee meetings.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, newly appointed
Directors shall hold office until the next following general meeting
and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independence

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had
at least three independent non-executive Directors. Amongst the
independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom had

appropriate financial management expertise.

Each current independent non-executive Director had given the
Company an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board considered all current
independent non-executive Directors to be independent under the
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules. Up to the date of this
report, the Board has not been aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that their independence has

been impaired.
Continuing Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and
other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors shall participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their

knowledge and skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company has been encouraging the
Directors and officers to participate in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars relating to the GEM Listing
Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices organized by professional bodies and/or
independent auditors to further improve their relevant knowledge

and skills.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Continuing Professional Development (continued)

During the year, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending seminar relating
to corporate governance and regulations or by reading materials
relevant to their duties and responsibilities. The participation by

individual Director during the year is set out below:

()
FREXBR(E)

RAFEAR 2REFCEBLERHELEER
ERplzi e kMEAREARERAEEZE
o 2HEEEREEREREY RAFEAR
EREEz22EIERRIINAT

Read regulatory Attend conference/

updates/materials seminars/workshop

RIEEE HEEE
BEFAE &R e TS
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Yifan sR—il v/ v
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming R v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse 2R v/ v
Kenneth Kon Hiu King TS v v/
Joseph Chan Nap Kee (- va=s v/ v/

Insurance

The Company arranges, and will review annually, appropriate

insurance cover in respect of legal against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Throughout the year, the Company had Ms. Zhang Yifan to assume
the role as the Chairlady of the Board, with no chief executive
officer. The Board’s decisions are implemented under the
leadership of the Chairlady with the involvement and support of the
chief executive officer(s) and general manager(s) of the Company’s
operating companies. The Board believes that the balance of
authority and division of responsibility are adequately ensured
by the operations of the Board and management which comprise

experienced and high calibre individuals.
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SEERRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the existing non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) is for a period
of three years unless terminated by either party with one
month’s written notice. All the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings in

accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely
nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit
committee. All these committees have their respective terms of
reference which accord with the principles set out in the Code

contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
Nomination Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the nomination
committee of the Company comprised of not less than four
members at all the time, and the majority of whom are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse, Mr.
Kenneth Kon Hiu King, Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee; and Ms. Zhang
Yifan, the Chairlady and an executive Director.

The nomination committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment
of directors, evaluation of board size, structure and composition,
management of board succession with reference to the board
diversity policy and certain guidelines including appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, personal ethics,
integrity and personal skills, and time commitments of member
and assessing the independence of non-executive directors. The
Board has adopted a set of the revised terms of reference of the
nomination committee which are aligned with the provisions set out
in the Code. The terms of reference of the committee setting out
its authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the

websites of the Company and the GEM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEABE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

During the year, the committee review the board composition, board
diversity policy and retirement of Directors by rotation and made
recommendations to the Board. One meeting was held during the
year with an attendance rate of 100%. The attendance of each

nomination committee member during the year is set out below:

BEZES(#)
REZEE(H)

RAFERN ZESRNESGREZAK &
FERBEZLMABRREFZHFEEER  YAE
EFERBER -AFEAGRIT-REHE  ZX
BEZHEER/I00% c RAFERN - FRAEZE
BeRBHFERIBEAFINWT

Nomination Committee
members’ attendance/
meetings held
REZEGREHE
BITFBRE

Zhang Yifan w‘—A
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse RER
Kenneth Kon Hiu King TS
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PR S B

Remuneration Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the remuneration
committee of the Company comprised of not less than four
members at all the time, namely Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse (who
serves as the committee chairman), Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King, and
Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee, all being independent non-executive
Directors; and Ms. Zhang Yifan, the Chairlady and an executive
Director. The Board has adopted a set of the terms of reference of
the remuneration committee which are aligned with the provisions
set out in the Code. The committee has adopted the model where
it has delegated responsibility to determine the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Non-executive Directors. The terms of reference of the committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
both the websites of the Company and the GEM.

The remuneration committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policy and
overseeing the remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management. It takes into consideration of factors such
as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities, and employment conditions of directors and senior

management.
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SEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the committee meeting, the remuneration committee
may also deal with matters by way of circulation. During the
year, the committee reviewed and determined the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the Company.
Three meetings were held during the year with an attendance
rate of approximately 92%. The attendance of each remuneration

committee members during the year is set out below:

EERET(#)
FMEES(#E)

RREEERIN  FHRE SR AEHTE
BEE RAFEAN ZEEERIRETAR
AEERSRERABZHMGTE - RAFER
BRITZREH BREH/2% - RAFE
N BHFHEZEENBLFERZBEREIIM
™~

Remuneration Committee
members’ attendance/

meetings held

FHESEREHE

BITEBIREY

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse RER 3/3

Zhang Yifan w—l 3/3

Kenneth Kon Hiu King TFESD 2/3

Joseph Chan Nap Kee V=S 3/3
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEREREBABZEHH

For the year ended 31st March 2020, total Directors’ remuneration
amounted to approximately HK$20,069,000 (2019: HK$12,587,000).
Remuneration of the executive Directors is prudently designed to
attract, motivate and retain them to formulate strategies and to
oversee operational matters of the Group and to reward them for
enhancing value to the shareholders. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors for the year are set out in note 8 to the accompanying

financial statements.

HE-_Z-_ZF=-A=+—HBLFE EF
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CREARBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior

management of the Group other than the executive Directors for the

year is as follows:

EEZERH)
EEREREBABZHM(E)

RAFE  BYTFAEESREREKXE (1T

BEERRIN ZFMT ¢

For the year ended 31st March
BE-A=t+—HLEE

2020 2019

—E_RE —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Basic salaries and allowances BERE & RER 5,773 4,503

Bonus TE4L 1,686 1,000
Employer’s contribution to retirement {BE Z RIRETEI#E 5K

scheme 36 36

Equity-settled share option expenses LARRFE#EE 7 BEIRRERT 2 170 —

7,665 5,539

For the year ended 31st March
BE=ZA=t—HLEE

2020 2019
—E_EE —T-NF

Remuneration by band FMER
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /875 — 2,000,000 /& 7T — 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 87T — 3,500,000/8 7T 1 —
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000 T _ 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 %87 — 4,500,000,8 7T 1 —
2 2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company’s
audit committee comprised not less than three members at all time.
The members of the audit committee comprised Mr. Joseph Liang
Hsien Tse (who served as committee chairman and has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in financial matters), Mr.
Kenneth Kon Hiu King and Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee, all being

independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a set of the revised terms of reference
of the audit committee to align with the provisions set out in the
Code in November 2018. The committee’s principal duties are to
ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and
financial controls of the Group, oversee the performance of internal
control systems, risk management and financial reporting process,
monitor the integrity of the financial statements and compliance with
statutory and listing requirements and to oversee independence and

qualifications of the external auditor.

The audit committee meets at least four times a year to discuss any
area of concern during the audits or reviews and at least twice of
the meetings shall be with the external auditor. However, only one
of the audit committee meeting was held with the external auditor
during the year. In light of the lockdown for coronavirus outbreak in
Hong Kong, one of the audit committee meeting originally scheduled
for March 2020 with the external auditor was postponed to April
2020. The audit committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual
reports before submission to the Board. Senior representatives of
the external auditor, executive Directors and senior management

are invited to attend the meetings, if required.

EERET(#)
EREES

REFEARBERNRE A  ARRIZERE
BEE—ERTOR=EXKEERK - BRZEGNX
ERRRBATE(EEZEEIE  RBESR
ZEEEREMBEFELR)  TRILERR
TEEE(RHABULIFNTES) -

R-E-\F+—H EFEERANEBRZ
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CREARBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the audit committee has approved the nature
and scope of the statutory audits, and reviewed the quarterly,
interim and annual financial statements of the Group, and was
content that the accounting policies and standards of the Group
are in accordance with the current best practices in Hong Kong.
Four meetings were held during the year with an attendance rate
of approximately 92%. The attendance of each audit committee

members during the year is set out below:

BEEZEE(H)

BREEgG(E)

RAFER  BEZEZECCHEEITERZ ML
NEE UENAEEZEE - FHERFENE
HE - BmEAEBz et B RENDNFER
BREBZREER NAFERNYRITUREG
H O HEENENR% RAEER - EERE
BERBHESER2BAERIMT

Audit Committee
members’ attendance/
meetings held

ERZEEREHE

BITEBRE

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse REEA 4/4
Kenneth Kon Hiu King FEES) 3/4
Joseph Chan Nap Kee V=S 4/4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including: (a) to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (b)
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; (c) to review
and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) to review
the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report. During the year, the Board reviewed

the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company reviews the appointment of external auditor on an
annual basis including a review of the audit scope and approval of
the audit fee. During the year, the fee payable to the Company’s
external auditor for the audit of the Company and its subsidiaries
amounted to approximately HK$2,280,000 (2019: HK$2,200,000)
and fee for non-audit related activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$470,000 (2019:
HK$437,000).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code by establishing appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management

in performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
Risk Assessment System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system

comprises the following phases:

. Phase 1: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and

risks that could affect the achievement of objectives

. Phase 2: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and

evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly

o Phase 3: Consider the risk responses and ensure effective

communication to the Board
. Phase 4: On-going monitor the residual risks

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2019, no significant

risk was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)
Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components

and main features of the framework are shown as follow:
Control Environment

o Proper structures, reporting lines and appropriate authorities

and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives are

established.
Risk Assessment
o Changes in risk that could significantly impact the system of

internal control are identified using the abovementioned risk

management system.
Control Activities

. Formal policy and procedures, such as financial reporting,
revenue and receipts, are established, implemented and

communicated throughout the Group.
Information and Communication

. Proper safeguards are established for handling and
dissemination inside information. For example, confidentiality
agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations, and the executive Directors
are designated to speak on behalf of the Group when
communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.
Monitoring

o Internal control deficiencies are communicated to the
responsible departments in a timely manner for taking

corrective action.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2019, no
significant control deficiency was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)
Internal Control System (continued)

The abovementioned risk assessment and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Internal Auditor

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and

tests of operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted annually and the results are reported to the

Board/Audit Committee afterwards.

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system through the following processes and

subsequently reported the review results to the Board:

. discussions with the executive management on areas of risk
identified

o review of risks reported by the internal audit department

. review of the external audit plans

o review of issues reported by external auditor

. review of the reports from the internal audit department, the

executive management to ensure appropriate controls are in

place and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified

Based on the result of the review for the year ended 31st March
2020, the Board considered that the risk management system and
internal control system of the Group, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting function, and their training
programs and budget, are adequate and effective and have

complied with the provisions of the Code during the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the Chairlady, the Board and
Board committees by ensuring good information flow within the
Board and that Board policy and procedures are followed. The
company secretary reports to the Board and assists the Board in
functioning effectively and efficiently. He also advises the Board on
governance matters and facilitates the induction and professional
development of Directors. All Directors of the Company may call
upon the company secretary for advice and assistance at any time
in respect to their duties and the effective operation of the Board

and the Board committees.

Mr. Law Wai Fai is the chief financial officer and company secretary
of the Company. He is a full time employee of the Company and had
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Law undertook
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the

year.

NOMINATION POLICY

During the year under review, the Company has adopted a
nomination policy in November 2018 (“Nomination Policy”).
The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria and procedures for

nominating candidates for election as Directors.
Selection Criteria

1. The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee (“NC”) in assessing the suitability of a

proposed candidate.
> Reputation for integrity

> Accomplishment and experience in relation to the

Company’s line of business
> Commitment in respect of available time

> Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to

nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

Selection Criteria (continued)

2.

Retiring independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”),
save for those who have served as INEDs for a period of 9
consecutive years, are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For the avoidance
of doubt, (a) the 9-year period for determining the eligibility
of an INED for nomination by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting would count from his/her date of first
appointment as an INED until the date of the forthcoming
annual general meeting when his/her current term of service
will expire at the end of that meeting; and (b) an INED who
has been serving on the Board for a period of 9 consecutive
years or more may continue to hold office until expiry of his/

her current term.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with their written consent to be
appointed as a Director and to the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant websites for
the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as a

Director.

The NC may request candidates to provide additional

information and documents, if considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

1.

The Secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the NC, and
invite nominations of candidates from Board members if any,
for consideration by the NC prior to its meeting. The NC may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board

members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the NC shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.
For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the NC shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by

the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

Nomination Procedures (continued)

4.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting,
a circular will be sent to shareholders. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included

in the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the Company Secretary in
accordance with Bye-law 88 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
to propose a resolution to elect a certain person as a Director,
without the Board’s recommendation or the NC’s nomination,
other than those candidates set out in the shareholder
circular. The particulars of the candidates so proposed will
be sent to all shareholders for information by a supplementary

circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing

to the Company Secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at

any general meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies
available, and the “gross-vote” method will be used to
determine who shall be elected as a Director, shareholder
proposed resolutions shall therefore take the same form as the
resolutions proposed for the candidates recommended by the
Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance the quality of its

performance.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a

diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and independence. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

The nomination committee of the Company will monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the Board
Diversity Policy annually to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy. The nomination committee of the Company will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any

such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”) in
February 2019, pursuant to which the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, provided
that the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well

as its shareholder value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio and the Board has the discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to
the provisions of the Bye-Laws of the Company and all applicable

laws and regulations and the factors set out below:
(i the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

(iii)  economic conditions and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Group;

(iv)  business strategies of the Group, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term

growth aspect of the business;

(v)  the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital

requirements of the Group;

(vi) restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by

the Group’s lenders;
(vii) statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval and the Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited
and shall revert to the Company in accordance with the Bye-Laws of

the Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time
to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meeting of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be

lodged with the Company’s registered office.

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director of the Company are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws
and also available at the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the company secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 18/F, Shanghai
Commercial Bank Tower, 12 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy which
aims at providing the shareholders and potential investors
with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. The Company has established a
number of channels for maintaining an on-going dialogue with its
shareholders as follows: (a) corporate communications such as
announcements, annual reports, quarterly reports and circulars are
published and available on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com
and the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com; (b) corporate
information is made available on the Company’s website; (c) general
meetings provide a forum for the shareholders to make comments
and exchange views with the Directors and senior management,
and the poll results of the general meetings are published on the
websites of the Company and the GEM; and (d) the Company’s
share registrars serve the shareholders in respect of share
registration, dividend payment, change of shareholders’ particulars

and related matters.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

During the year, the Chairlady of the Board, the chairmen of the
Board committees and external auditor attended the annual general
meeting held on 5th September 2019 to answer questions from

shareholders.

The Company’s memorandum of association and Bye-laws is
available on both the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com
and the GEM website at www.hkgem.com. The Board is unaware of
any significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are ultimately responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements for each financial year which gives a true
and fair view. In preparing the financial statements, appropriate
accounting policies and standards are selected and applied

consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in

the independent auditor’s report on pages 56 to 62 of this report.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
significant in maintaining investor confidence and attracting
investment. The management will devote considerate effort to
strengthen and improve the standards of the corporate governance

of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRESE

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) have the
pleasure of presenting their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of North Asia Strategic Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31st March 2020 (the “year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities

during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, a fair review of the business of the Group, an analysis using
financial key performance indicators and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business, which can be found
in the Management Discussion & Analysis set out on pages 8 to 15
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this director’s

report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
will be provided in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
which will be published on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com
and the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com no later than

three months after the publication of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and segment results by
operating segment for the year is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS

Details of the Group’s results for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 63 and 64, respectively, of this

annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31st March 2020 (2019: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31st March 2020, the reserves available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$506,925,000 (2019: HK$429,849,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual

report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in

note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year.

DONATION

The Group has not made any donation during the year (2019: Nil).
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PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

Details of the provident fund schemes are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:
Executive Directors

Zhang Yifan (Chairlady)

Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Joseph Chan Nap Kee

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming and Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King shall retire
from office by rotation and be eligible, will offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out

on pages 16 to 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2020, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests
or short positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules

relating to the securities transactions by Directors:

Long positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company:

BEERERETHRAERRG HEBR®G
LEREEZEZRRE

R-ZZE-ZTF=ZA=+—H EFENEAQTESD
THRABURBEES B ZHBEAREKRFHEE
BEE(TERBFFRBERMN(EFSHRBEK
Bl EXVER) 2R K, SABRERR M R A LT
EIARIBEES RAEKOIEI2EBFEZE
stz s kAR - SR GEM LR AIE
546162 F567TKEMESETESFRSH 2
EAMERNAR LBz EERAR

RADARG R, REERGZFRA -

Name of Director

ESHS

Zhang Yifan
sR—IA

Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming
TR EHA

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse
RER

Joseph Chan Nap Kee
(=S

Kenneth Kon Hiu King
THY

Note:

(a) The above approximate percentages of the shareholdings are based

Capacity

g7

Beneficial owner

BEamEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmlEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmlEAA

Beneficial owner

BEREAA

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

on 272,580,805 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st March 2020.
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of underlying percentage
shares held of underlying
(Share Options) shares held
FEHERERGEE FsHEERG 2
(R BHBES T

(Note a)

(Kiita)

5,449,600 1.99%
472,000 0.17%

472,000 0.17%

472,000 0.17%

472,000 0.17%

st
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the securities of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by

Directors.

Save for the above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age
had any interests in, or had been granted or exercised, any rights to
subscribe for any securities of the Company or any of its associated

corporations during the year.

\/
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OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, the following person (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests
were disclosed above) had interests or short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company

pus

L A LR K AEEE R 2 s &K

mp

\CE-EF=AS—A  HEFRARAR
BITHABAA - FHAL(BR X RBRE
2EERARTARSIRABRINRAR AR
13 R/ SRR P 25 AR FIRIEE S
REIE P15 336 (AT B2 X EREEEM
M2 REIAR

7

REXRARO R SERRDZHR

Approximate

Number percentage of
Number of underlying shares and
of ordinary shares held underlying
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held (Share Options) shares held
FREFMERR 5 RO REE
REZEA g4 g EREE HFE(BRE) ROZBHEIL
(Note a)
(K7t a)
Lu Ying Beneficial owner 40,000,000 544,000 67.25%
3] BB A
Interest of controlled 142,768,723 —
corporation (Note b)
REEEER (ML)
Sincere Ardent Limited Beneficial owner (Note b) 142,768,723 — 52.37%
EmEB AN TD)
Notes: Bzt -

(a) The above approximate percentages of the shareholdings are based
on 272,580,805 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st March 2020.

(b) Sincere Ardent Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Lu Ying. By virtue of
Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Lu Ying is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Sincere Ardent Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company were not aware of any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company the interests of which
were disclosed above) who has any interests or short positions in
the securities of the Company that were required to be entered in
the register of substantial shareholders of the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO as at 31st March 2020.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year

or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:
Share Option Scheme

On 4th September 2014, the shareholders of the Company approved

the adoption of a share option scheme (the “2014 Scheme”).
The major terms of the 2014 Scheme are summarized as follows:

(1)  The purpose of the 2014 Scheme is to reward participants
who have contributed or will contribute to the Group and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company

and its shareholders as a whole.

(2) The participants of the 2014 Scheme are the employee,
agent, consultant or representative of the Company or any
subsidiary, including any executive or non-executive Director
of the Company or any subsidiary or any other person who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will

contribute to the Group.

(83) The maximum number of ordinary shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2014 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the ordinary
shares in issue on the date of approval of the 2014 Scheme
(the “Scheme Limit") or as at the date of the Shareholders’

approval of the refreshed Scheme Limit.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all option granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2014 Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company shall not, in aggregate exceed 30%
of the ordinary shares in issue from time to time. As at the
date of this report, the total number of the ordinary shares
of the Company available for issue in respect of which share
options have been granted and yet to be granted under 2014
Scheme is 34,581,280, representing approximately 12.7% of

the issued share capital of the Company.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

(4)

The maximum number of ordinary shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee
under the 2014 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the

shares in issue for the time being.

The exercise period of any option granted under the 2014
Scheme shall be determined by the Board but such period

shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

The 2014 Scheme does not specify any minimum holding

period.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option under
the 2014 Scheme ("Offer”) must be made within 5 business
days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is
delivered to that participant together with a non-refundable

payment of HK$1.00 from each grantee.

The exercise price of an option to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company shall be determined by the Board but

shall not be less than the higher of:

a. The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet

on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

b. The average closing price of the ordinary shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and

ch The nominal value of the ordinary shares on the date of

grant.

The 2014 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on its adoption of the 2014 Scheme on
4th September 2014.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued) R E R R (E)
Share Option Scheme (continued) BRESEI(E)
The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share TREBVRAFERE_S—UFHE B TAR
options under the 2014 Scheme during the year: Gl e k- EUE
Number of share options
BhiER
Qutstanding Qutstanding
as at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
Exercise 1st April during during during during 3st March
Name Date of grant Exercise period price* 2019 the year the year the year the year 2020
RZZ-1F H-%-%F
X i BA-B ) ZA=1-H
it RUAE iR fikE BAOE  ERERE ERERE  EACHEH EREAN WA
Executive Directors
inE
Zhan% Yifan hAugusI 2017 16th August 2017 hAugusI 2001 HK§1.15 2,726,600 - - - - 2,725,600
F-0 E-+E)\ftrA _2—%/\%\51’ S_tENAtTRA 11587
26th June 2019 26th June 2019 to 25th June 2029 HK$0.682 - 2,724,000 - - - 2,724,000
ZEMERACTAR ZE-MERRCTABECECNEAACTER 082En
Pierre Tsui Kiwong Ming GthAugus 1 2017 hAugust2017 15th August 2027 HK$1.15 200,000 - - - - 200,000
R S-t¥\AtiA -\ BTAREZEtENATRA 115%T
26hJune 2019 26th Jung 2019 to 25th June 2029 HK$0.82 - 272,000 - - - 212,000
ZE-MEARCTRE ZE-NERACTAREZECNERAZTRA 082571
Indeg;end_enl non-gxecutive Directors
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse  16th August 2017 6th Augus 1 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.15 200,000 - - - - 200,000
2% E-HENELAE E-tENATAAZZE-YE\ATRE 11587
26 h June 2019 26th Jung 2019 to 25th June 2029 HK$0.82 - 272,000 - - - 272,000
MERBZTAR ZE-NEARCTABEZRCAEAA-TEA 08281
Joseﬁh Chan Nap Kee  16th August 2017 16hAugus t 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1 200,000 - - - - 200,000
R “E-LENAtRE % t%ﬂ%ﬁ{”‘tﬂﬂﬁﬁ I5%T
26th June 2019 26th June 2019 to 25th June 2029 HK$0.62 - 212,000 - - - 212,000
ZENERRCTAE ZENERACTABECRINEAACTRR 08T
Kenneth Kon HiuKing ~~ 16th August 2017 hAugust 2017 1o 15th August 2027 HK$1.15 200,000 - - - - 200,000
THY ZE-EENATRE ZE-tE \%\EE IZtENATRA 11557
26hJune 2019 26th June 2019 o 25th June 2029 HK$0.62 - 272,000 - - - 212,000
MERBZTAR T-NERACTABECICAGRACTER O82ET
Sub-Total 3,625,600 3,812,000 - - - 1,337,600
Nt
Substantial Shareholder
1ZhR
Lu Ying 16hAugus {2017 th Augus t 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.15 272,000 - - - - 272,000
] ELEMATRE EALENATARECRCtENATER 11587
26ih Jung 2019 26hJune 2019 to 25th June 2029 HK$0.62 = 272,000 - - - 272,000
“E-NERACTAR CE-NEAACTABECEONENACTERA 082%T
Empl kees of the Group
Ohe 1 Employees 16th August 2017 IBhAugus { 2017 1o 15th August 2027 HK$1.16 3,525,600 = = = = 3,525,600
EfiEE E-LENATAA CE-LE \M‘/\Ei E_+ENATEA 11687
26 Jne 2019 2ih June 201910 25 June 2029 HK$0.2 - 35 - - - G400
T-MERAZTAR ZE-MERACTARZISCAEAACTRR 08T
Total 1,323,200 1,608,000 - - - 14.931,200
3
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)
Note:

The closing price per share immediately before 16th August 2017 and 26th
June 2019, the dates of grant, were HK$1.15 (after adjustment of share
consolidation on 26th March 2019) and HK$0.82 respectively.

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted to Directors, a substantial
shareholder and employees was determined using the binomial
model. The inputs into the model and the fair value of the total share

options granted were as follows:

Expected dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)

TR S EE &K (%)
TEHR R (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%) ERBRFE (%)
Expected life of share options (year)

Fair value of the total share options granted

The binomial model is a generally accepted method of valuing share
options. The significant assumptions used in the calculation of the
values of the share options were risk-free interest rate, expected life
of share options, expected volatility and expected dividend yield.
The measurement date used in the valuation model was the date on

which the share options were granted.

The values of share options determined using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. The value of the share option
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any
change to the variables used may materially affect the estimation of
the fair value of the share option.
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BEHAH
16th August 2017  26th June 2019
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NA+XHAH ANRAZ=+XH
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79.012 74.808
2.030 1.830
10.000 10.000
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or a connected
entity of such Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme”,
neither at the end of nor at any time during the year there subsisted
any arrangement to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and the objects of or one of the objects of such
arrangement are/is to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were

entered into or existed during the year.

INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that every director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses shall or may incur or sustain by
any act done or in the execution of their duties as a Director of the
Company, provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
such Director. Directors Liability Insurance is in place to protect the
Directors of the Company or its subsidiaries against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors in

the executive of their duties.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRES

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31st March 2020, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of

interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 56.3% of the Group’s total turnover and the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 34.9% of the
Group’s total turnover. The five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 84.4% of the Group’s total purchases
and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately

81.5% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s

five largest customers and suppliers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31st March 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information, the Company maintains
a sufficient public float of more than 25% of the issued ordinary

shares as at the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRESE

INFORMATION OF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

The compliance officer of the Company is Ms. Zhang Yifan. Ms.
Zhang is the Chairlady and an executive Director of the Company.
The biographical details of Ms. Zhang are set out on page 16 of this

annual report.

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Law Wai Fai. He is
also the chief financial officer of the Company. The biographical
details of Mr. Law are set out in section of “Profiles of Directors and

Senior Management” on page 20.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted

by the Company is set out on pages 21 to 42 of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020 have
been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for

reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
Zhang Yifan

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 18th June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZRBERS

et
EY::

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Asia
Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 184, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31st March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
V% SR R

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For the matter below, our description of how our audit

addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion

on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BED | E

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) for trade receivables and finance

lease receivables

As at 31st March 2020, the
Group had trade receivables
and finance lease receivables
with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$298.1
million and HK$192.6 million,
respectively.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
requires the use of the ECL
model for the estimation of loss
allowances of financial assets.

Management uses the simplified
approach and general approach
to calculate ECL for trade receivables
and finance lease receivables,
respectively.

Management has engaged
an independent specialist to
determine the ECL.

We focused on this area because
significant management judgements
and estimates were involved in
determining the ECL with reference
to historical loss record and forward-
looking information.

Disclosures in relation to trade
receivables and finance lease
receivables are included in notes
4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

We obtained an understanding
of the Group’s credit risk
management and practices,
and evaluated whether the
Group’s assessment of the ECL
allowance is in accordance
with the requirements of HKFRS
9, including an evaluation of
management judgements on
(i) the level of disaggregation
of categories for collective
assessment; and (ii) the use of
available credit risk information,
including historical and
forward-looking information.

We obtained and reviewed the
ECL calculation prepared by
management which was based
on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience and, with the
aid of the external specialist,
adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

We assessed the competence,
objectivity and independence of
the external specialist engaged
by the management of the
Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBERE

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBERE

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBERE

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

18th June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS { o
M A= 22
?ﬂﬁ? =] *E m 43;2
Year ended 31st March 2020 ##Z —Z T F=A=+—HILtFE
2020 2019
—B-EF —Z-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FETT FET
Revenue A 5] 3,021,718 2,397,010
Cost of sales SHERCAR (2,622,342) (2,016,602)
Gross profit EFI 399,376 380,408
Other income and gains, net HEalw A Rz - SF5E 6 13,261 2,915
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (137,123) (149,310)
General and administrative —BRITERER
expenses (133,401) (96,063)
Other expenses Hith & A (7,453) —
Operating profit 4 5 | 134,660 137,950
Finance income ARSI 9 9,463 2,669
Finance costs B 7% 8 A 9 (2,886) (3,041)
Profit before income tax R BT 1S 81 Al A 7 141,237 137,578
Income tax expense Frig®i sz i 10 (30,261) (27,425)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F A5 110,976 110,153
Earnings per share attributable to RRR)E B R
ordinary shareholders of the X (eR=T kil
Company 12
Basic (HK cents) BERCGEM) 40.7 40.4
Diluted (HK cents) 5102 3/1I)) 40.7 40.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCI)ME
Go2EKEE %

Year ended 31st March 2020 B —ZE—_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

2019
—ZT-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit for the year F Rz H) 110,976 110,153
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HEzmmilias
Other comprehensive income that may ARERN AR HRAEF Y EERR
be reclassified to profit or loss in EmEmikas :
subsequent periods:
Currency translation differences of BINETS 2 EME ZRE
foreign operations (14,745) (24,038)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRE M E Y
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX OF NIL MRERIREIFRE (14,745) (24,038)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FAZAKERRE
THE YEAR 96,231 86,115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION { o
2 A b J
e M AR R 3R
31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H
2019
—T-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB REE 13 58,053 68,404
Intangible assets B AE 14 373,692 373,692
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 24,066 =
Trade and other receivables B 5 I W SR TE T H b FE UL
EE] 16 56,825 52,568
Deferred tax assets BEFIBEE 25 813 1,564
513,449 496,228
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFABR ISR
through profit or loss BE 17 71,258 36,760
Inventories T8 18 851,007 38,396
Trade and other receivables B 5 FE kI8 K H Ath FE Uk
WIA 16 646,672 620,335
Pledged deposits HKifire 19 777 4,239
Cash and cash equivalents HekRESEMEER 19 705,310 619,260
2,275,024 1,318,990
Total assets EEHE 2,788,473 1,815,218
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to shareholders 72 7] IR R E/G
of the Company
Issued capital BT 20 27,258 27,258
Reserves Ee] 21 1,061,206 961,542
Total equity R 1,088,464 988,800
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B R R &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2019
—T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 22 53,697 —
Trade and other payables B 5 FE <R IE RE A
FERTRIE 23 1,576,062 794,017
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 13,041 —
Income tax liabilities Frisfia’ 22,533 11,524
1,665,333 805,541
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other borrowings HpEE 22 6,311 —
Lease liabilities HEARE 24 11,483 —
Deposits received Bz 26 16,663 20,735
Other non-current liabilities Hi3EmeaE 219 142
34,676 20,877
Total liabilities BEHAEE 1,700,009 826,418
Total equity and liabilities EnRkEEAE 2,788,473 1,815,218
Net current assets REBEERE 609,691 513,449
Total assets less current liabilities BEEZERADEE 1,123,140 1,009,677

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18th June 2020:

Zhang Yifan
’R—IA
Chairlady and Executive Director

FERPTEF
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Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming
#EH
Executive Director

HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31st March 2020 B —ZE —_ZTF=A=+—HItFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

DR REG
Issued capital Reserves Total
2BEITRAE #%E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
(note 20) (note 21)
(Hiat20) (Btaz21)
Balances as at 1st April 2018 R=-Z—N\EMAF—H
R 27,258 875,427 902,685
Comprehensive income el e
Profit for the year F W@ F — 110,153 110,153
Other comprehensive income — A2 EHz5
Currency translation INEETS 2 B
differences of foreign MEZE
operations — (24,038) (24,038)
Total other comprehensive Hin 2 E W25
income — (24,038) (24,038)
Total comprehensive income SR2MEURZEHE
for the year — 86,115 86,115
Balances as at 31st March RZE—NF=A
2019 and 1st April 2019 =t+—BR=-ZT—hfE
WA—HZ#&#% 27,258 961,542 988,800
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY I
REEZSBR

Year ended 31st March 2020 B —ZE—_ZTF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

AN B REREMG
Issued capital Reserves
ERITRAE =]
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
(note 20) (note 21)
(Kt 20) (Ktst21)
Balances as at 1st April 2019 R=-Z—HAEMA—H
2R 27,258 961,542 988,800
Comprehensive income 2HEKE
Profit for the year F A5 — 110,976 110,976
Other comprehensive income A2 EH iz
Currency translation BINETE 2 B
differences of foreign ME =7
operations — (14,745) (14,745)
Total other comprehensive Hih 2 E W= 25
income — (14,745) (14,745)
Total comprehensive income SRZHEWFEHATE
for the year — 96,231 96,231
Equity-settled share-based UARE = 45 B S AR 19
transactions (note 20(b)) R 5 (K177 20(b)) — 3,433 3,433
Balances as at 31st RZT=TF
March 2020 —A=tT—Hz#&#% 27,258 1,061,206 1,088,464

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZ R ER AR




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS { No—
GEBHETRER
Year ended 31st March 2020 BEZE - -ZF=A=+—HIFE
2019
—T-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HiiE FHT FHETL
Cash flows from operating RETHZHERE
activities
Net cash flows from operations BIEFTEA
ZREMEFHR 27(b) 106,223 478,235
Interest paid BATFE (2,886) (3)
Mainland China corporate income BT E A ERER
tax paid (7,766) (9,761)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBFEH (10,735) (27,603)
Net cash flows from operating BN FTEAE
activities 2B & mEFE 84,836 440,868
Cash flows from investing REFHZHERE
activities
Additions to property, plant and NEWE  BER&E
equipment (29,217) (63,107)
Proceeds from disposal of items of  HEWE  BELXHEER
property, plant and equipment Z TS 3K08 18,165 15,346
Purchase of financial assets at fair ~ B EIRAAEF AEZE
value through profit or loss ZEBMEE (79,337) —
Receipts from sale of financial HEZR AN B AER
assets at fair value through 2 BEE 2 FTIREIE
profit or loss 37,386 —
Interest received 2 W F 8 9,463 2,669
Decrease/(increase) in pledged I ES R ()
deposits 3,462 (4,239)
Net cash flows used in investing RERSMERACRERE
activities FRE (40,078) (49,331)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

Year ended 31st March 2020 & ZE —

T_TFE=RA=+—HILFE

2019
—Z—hEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HiiF FHT FHETL
Cash flows from financing RMETHZHERE
activities
New bank and other borrowings FIBRIT R EMEE 207,536 7,925
Repayment of bank and other ERERITRHEMEER
borrowings (147,528) (7,925)
Principal portion of lease HENK ARSI D
payments (12,772) —
Net cash flows from financing BB EEFTEAE
activities ZHREMEFHE 47,236 ==
Increase in cash and cash ReERBELZEEER
equivalents Z g 91,994 391,537
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNZHEERESEE
beginning of year HH 619,260 231,292
Effect of foreign exchange rate MNEBERSE HE
changes, net =21 (5,944) (3,569)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRHESRREEE
end of year HA 705,310 619,260
Analysis of balances of cash and H®H&RBRESEEEE
cash equivalents R
Cash at banks and on hand RITAFEERE 19 333,502 445,403
Non-pledged time deposits with REVERRETEIE B
original maturity of three months B=EAAAT
or less when acquired 2 B TE BER 371,808 173,857
Cash and cash equivalents as RERE AR KT
stated in the consolidated ZRERBESE
statement of financial position EH 705,310 619,260
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally

engaged in the following businesses during the year:

o hi-tech distribution and services: trading of surface
mount technology (“SMT”) assembly equipment,
machinery and spare parts and provision of related
installation, training, repair and maintenance services

for SMT assembly equipment;

o leasing: provision of finance to its customers via a wide
array of assets under finance lease arrangements and
operating lease arrangements, and trading of lease

assets; and
° investment holding.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”’). The address
of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and that of its principal place of
business is 18th Floor, Shanghai Commercial Bank Tower, 12

Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
and ultimate holding company is Sincere Ardent Limited,

which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

These financial statements have been approved and
authorised for issue by the Company’s board of directors on
18th June 2020.

TEREEESN

EERIEERBR AR ([ARE ) R
BAR(AHBIAERE DERNTERENUT

E/E

e EHNERERISHERRE: RmAE
BRir(ISMTDEERE  #IRT
BUHES - ARRFESMTAERE
ZHEBRE  FIl - #EREER
7

e HE: FEMEABEERHMEEHR
EZHTZEREERAEEPREH
MEUNREEEEES &

o  REER-

RARABRBEBEARE NN\ —FRFE
(RRDENRBREFMRL 2 B
RBERAR RFEMMPFRE MU R
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda @ M+ ZE &
M U BB EERRNEFR 125K L8
PIERITRE 1812 o

ARBZEBENEERERZAARD
Al ([BE 2P ) GEM £ »

BEERE BEEERARRSZKRERAT
A Sincere Ardent Limited @ 32 A &R HE
BREZEES([ABERES MK -

EUBBREREN_ZE_ZF A+ /\H
%&KL\EJE%@HE/E&&%W 45
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A% R MY R

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars about the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
Place of
incorporation/
registration
Name and business
AR,
£ RS ES Sk
American Tec Company Limited Hong Kong
EDEFRBERRA S
North Asia Strategic (HK) Limited (i) Hong Kong
IEHREE(EE)HRAF (i) BE
North Asia Capital Limited (i) Hong Kong
EHEAR(EE)BRAF () BE

FEEETEFRECRINERALE ("NAS  PRC/Mainland China

Principal activities

FEER

Trading of SMT equipment
and investment holding

SMTREE 5 RREER

Provision of management
services and investment

holding

REEERBRRERK

Investment holding

REER

Trading of electronic

American Tec (Shenzhen) Co Limited

(“Amtec Shenzhen™)

(TR (i), (i)

Co., Ltd. (ii), (il

IbnpEEE(LE)BRAE (i) &

ELATRERECRINDERARA
(“Fuji North Asia Financial Leasing

(Shenzhen) Co Ltd.") ( “Fuji

North Asia Financial Leasing (Shanghai)

(iif)

Shenzhen”) (TELFII) (ii), (iii)"

RE/FER

PRC/Mainland China
HE /B

PRC/Mainland China
HE /B

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

products, machinery
and spare parts and
provision of repair and
installation services

ETEM KENTHM
AN RIREEE R
ZE RIS

Provision of finance leasing
and operating lease
arrangement services

REMEHEREERERH
R

Provision of operating lease

tEREEERE)
FEMEARZER
BRAARRBFEMBARZFHIBHT
Percentage
Issued of equity
ordinary/ interest
registered held by
share capital the Group
BRATLER/ KB
HEMBRA RERDL
HK$60,000,000 100%
60,000,000 % 7T
HK$1 100%
1B
US$100 100%
100%7T
US$1,000,000 100%
1,000,000 % 7T
US$30,000,000 100%
30,000,000 7T
US$30,000,000 100%
30,000,000 7T

arrangement services

REEERERERS



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(i) Shares of these companies are held directly by the Company.
Shares of the other companies are held indirectly.

(i) These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established in the
PRC to operate for up to 30 years until 2023 to 2044.

(iii)  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The English name of this entity represents the best effort made
by the management of the Company to directly translate its
Chinese name as no official English name has been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

TEREEER (#2)

EEMEARZEN(E)

EE
()

(if)

(iii)

WFERARZBMEARRRERRFTA - £MA
AZBMTIEERE -

HERARARFEKLZIIEBERCE &
EHRE=-tFEE_T - =3 _Tmpy
ﬁ;c

W IR BB L KGR BTk L K Es
BB FT 2 BRAE 4% 2 H K B A RIHA% ©
HAAEBYECECZEARERE @ K
BREXERBOARAEEBERNEEZAH
PXXETERE -

ERBIEERR/EIEFEAREFAR
BABRAEEEEFEIELS AR
AMBARRE - EFERR - I EMH
BRASEHRRENTTE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.
2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, which have

been measured at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the

nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS

2015-2017 Cycle 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

74 NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

2.

EXRSTERBE

RRENEVBRREGER 2 T ESTHE
HNTX - BRABHEAI BFERRER
FEZ2RFEERER -

2.1

2.2

HEFBREDBREB LGSR
g((EBEFMAEDRMZE
BHBREEN(TEEH B RELE
Al (BRAAETEM RS ER
FREHEN(ERGHEND R
28 BELRGTRARBAER
AGRBl 2 RBRERE - BRIEAA
B ABRZZEREE(ARAER
BN hEMBHRREBRBELK
REPI RS -

BREBEAIN  MEHBHRRIAE
T(METDZ2% MEBEEEDHE
BRI TR -
EBRERKREEEZEH

AEEERAFE M BHREEH X
AT R] RSB R BB M5
8| o

[== e VAN

f

BANBRSEY WERAENENHE

FIRETA

RRMBREENE 165 HE

BAGER FELIE  GREEE
F195BIAR

BAEGEE REERRREERRR
F8FBIA RHER

Fr(ARMBRERRE SEREEDTEEY
Z88)— 2BF23H%

ZF-REE-FF FRMBHREEARES
BHZEERHSE B BRAUBREER

PIFEHERR F115 BREHE
BIE 12 REEEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19,
HKAS 28 and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation
of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and the
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described

below:

(a) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard
sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model to
recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except for certain recognition
exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors
continue to classify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in
HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have any
financial impact on leases where the Group is the

lessor.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date
of initial application of 1st April 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance
of accumulated losses at 1st April 2019, and the
comparative information for 2019 was not restated
and continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and

related interpretations.

2.

EXRSTEERBEZ)

2.2

B BRERRESEHZ22B(F)

BREEMBREENFINR  FES
FHERIZE 195 - HE G RIS 28
REAR—E-—AFZE—F—+
FRH BB KB EERFRH
TR G B R BN & (B B 7% R K A
Sh - R REERT B AR B RE %
A2 MERFEFHAWT :

(a) BBHEMIBEIRE LERIE 1657 M
REB S ERFEI7HRA
E BE(ERVBRERE
ZE®) — REBFIVETE
HELEREHE - BE(CER
“ZRELZE®) — REFE154
HEHE — BERNEB(E
AlREZEg) — RESF27
SR G S RAEAEFAKS
HIAZ o ZAERFHFHER ~ 5T
2 EWMEFEEHREZRA
WERABAFEE—EEAR
REXPAEARE - U
REGEFHBEEERTHEESR
& B THERBERIN B
78 B 5 3R 5 2E R 25 16 57 K 3K
HRBEBEFENEI7THRA
HHRAZEFEEASRN -
ANEEFEREEB ST ERSE
175U RAGHEESE A
KEREMERE - At
BEREMBRMEERFE165%E
AEEEAEBAA) ZRAEL
ETWUBETE -

REBE R KB EPERA
BRU B MEERE 165
BAERAAHA_T—NF
MA—A - REZTE  ZE
AIEEEWRA - A& IRER
MR ERRREN_F
—hWFMA—BRFERFY
R zREE AT -NF
REMYEEY)  WEERE
BESEERNE175R KB
BEER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

(continued)
New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys a right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the identified asset and the right to direct
the use of the identified asset. The Group elected
to use the transition practical expedient allowing
the standard to be applied only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial
application. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were
not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a
lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to
contracts entered into or changed on or after 1st
April 2019.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

2.

EXRSTEERBEE)

22 EHBERKRBESHZISH(Z)

(a)

(%)
HEZHESE

REBEMBREEAF 16
5 MAENRBERKEMSET
A TRERAZESERC B

BEZEN  AZAOAHEE
HBEEME - EEFARIRLE

RERRIEERFBRILYE
PNz A M ERERERE#
RIEER - BIAESE - A%
BREEREREEREES
& AR R ERIEE AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for its office
properties and warehouses. As a lessee, the
Group previously classified leases as either
finance leases or operating leases based on
the assessment of whether the lease transferred
substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to
recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two
elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) (elected by class of underlying asset).
Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term commencing from 1st April 2019, the
Group recognises depreciation (and impairment,
if any) of the right-of-use assets and interest
accrued on the outstanding lease liabilities (as
finance costs).

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1st April 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the incremental
borrowing rate at 1st April 2019.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the
amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised in the statement
of financial position immediately before 1st April
2019.

2.

EXRSTEERBEZ)

22 BFBERREZEZSB(E)

(a)

(%)

ERRBEA — LR BB
EHEZHE

RAZEHBEHEERE 16
R E IR

REBEBREEERRNENERE
BEZHEEAK - ERAFEA
AEEEAREEAHEHESS
REEMBRZBAED @R
hEREREAREE G
BEHENBAREMELLZ
HE - REFBHHEREER
F16% AKEBERBE—7
FERNABMEHEEZ(ER
BEENMEERE  HEEE
EEHEEGREREE &£ £E
B)REEHR12EASKAT
ZHBE(NEMAESE )(ZAERE
EEREE) cMBEEEN
BRI e AEELER_F
—NFHBE—BRRZEEH
NABAEEREERERT
ZMHEEFX - TRMERERE
BENE(RREMIE)) KR
EEBRERABZEFNE(R
BEKRA) -

(7 i B 485
B

R-CE-NFHNA—-—AZEE
EERSKTEHENKRER
R-FEAZE-NAFMHA—A
ZIEEEE N KR

EREAEREEAESE
g WHRREE-FT-NAFD
A—BAREHRARBRZ
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EXRSTEERBEE)

22 EHBERKRBESHZISH(Z)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(continued)

(a)  (continued) (a) (&)
As a lessee — Leases previously classified as EBRHAAN — LD BEBE
operating leases (continued) EHEZHE(E)
Impacts on transition (continued) BEFE(E)
All these assets were assessed for any impairment FEZEEERE BEHERE
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group ARG ERIF 365 5t E M
elected to present the right-of-use assets REEL R o REEEER

separately in the statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective
practical expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at
1st April 2019:

o Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12

months from the date of initial application

° Using hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options to

extend/terminate the lease

o Using a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar

characteristics

. Relying on its assessment of whether leases
are onerous immediately before the date of

initial application

o Excluding the initial direct costs from the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the

date of initial application

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBRBE#R)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 22 BFBERREZEZSB(E)
(continued)
(a) (continued) (@) (#)

—NEmA - A RINE
%M%ﬁm%mﬁﬁﬁiz
pEuT

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS
16 as at 1st April 2019 are as follows:

Increase
# b0
HK$'000
FET
Assets iE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15.844
Liabilities %
Lease liabilities HEaE 15,844

The lease liabilities as at 1st April 2019 can be

—NFHEA—-BZEE

reconciled to the operating lease commitments as BEFER-_ZT—NLF=H
at 31st March 2019 as follows: =+ —HZRETHEAEYHE
LU
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments as at 31st R-EBE-AEFE=ZA=+—H2
March 2019 REHERE 17,859
Less: Commitments relating to short-term R EEREERBRTITHEHAR T
leases and those leases with a TE=A=+—HazpKilx
remaining lease term ended on or ZEHERE 2 &E
before 31st March 2020 (870)
16,989
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate R=F—LF M8 —HZ NEFHEE
as at 1st April 2019 EEFI= 5.4%
Lease liabilities as at 1st April 2019 R-EBE-—NAFNA-AZHEEE 15,844
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

(b) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope
of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether
an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by
taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. The interpretation did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'’
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Reform’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution
and HKAS 28 (2011) of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture*
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material’
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent
Concession®
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2022

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described

below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities
and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the
inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1st April 2020. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to transactions or other events that occur
on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of

transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
address the effects of interbank offered rate reform
on financial reporting. The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to
continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark.
In addition, the amendments require companies to
provide additional information to investors about their
hedging relationships which are directly affected by
these uncertainties. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2020.
Early application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1st April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 provide relief to lessees from
applying HKFRS 16 guidance on lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. Many lessors
have provided rent concessions to lessees as a result of
the covid-19 pandemic. The objective of the amendment
is to provide lessees that have been granted covid-19
related rent concessions with practical relief, while still
providing useful information about leases to users of
the financial statements. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st June 2020.
Early application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31st March 2020. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities

of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over

an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting

rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated

until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in the statement
of profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss or
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed

of the related assets or liabilities.
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss

is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in the statement of profit or loss as a gain

on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31st March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed

in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation of and the portion of the cash-

generating unit retained.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

2.

EASTTHEREE)
24 HEEEE)
EBFEHREE(E)

MR EERE - A K AR AR
M2 REEENE AEEFE
TRERAS - W EE RS HFE
NEEWHERREMBENERE Al
BENREREY - AEEEFRN
—A=T—BETEZREAHR -
RETRENR  BEBSHME
ZEE RRERHERESEER
SEEREXSEFEREIERNE H#
MRABEZREEEEN - THRA
SECZEMEENEBRSH YR
|z E kBN o

WMEDEBFEEBREREAIRS
EEBM(H—ERSELAEMN)Z
e sEMmEE - BEBEAR
ReELBA(H—HREELE
fﬁ)zﬁﬂﬁz@%gﬁd\ﬁéﬁi\ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@
R HBREBENERRTIGHE
Hig Bimsm -

ERNBREIRE—HRASEELS
fr(sk—#BLEEBMN) - ME &
Bz EBHEEER - GREL
EXEB2MERHEBT AZER 2
EEAN METZELHEZAE -
EHEBRT  HEZEEDRE
FriRB R ECBNEB RIS
ZIBEEERE o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each

reporting period.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market

participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the

use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each

reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the

impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in

prior years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over, the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its

working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific

useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs
are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful

life. Their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 2 to 10 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 6 years
Plant and machinery and 3 to 10 years

demonstration machinery
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Customer relationships and distribution agreements are
shown at historical cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value
as at the date of acquisition. The Group’s intangible
assets have finite useful lives and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated

impairment losses.

Amortisation of customer relationships and distribution
agreements is calculated using the straight-line method

to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives as

follows:
Customer relationships 3 to 4 years
Distribution agreements 3 years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (applicable from 1st April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.
(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:

Office properties and warehouses 1to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated

useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (applicable from 1st April 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the

payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of

an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (applicable from 1st April 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
office properties and warehouses (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance

lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in other income and gains in the statement
of profit or loss due to its non-operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are

earned.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (applicable from 1st April 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases. At
the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to

the net investment in the lease.

Leases (applicable before 1st April 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases. At
the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to

the net investment in the lease.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase

and financing.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

Leases (applicable before 1st April 2019) (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or

loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets

depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as
other income and gains and negative net changes in fair
value presented as other expense in the statement of

profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset

have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates, if and to what extent,
it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

2.

EXRSTEERBEZ)

2.12

2.13

RERHAMERMEE(E)
BAREGTABZEHEE

NAREFABSENEREE &
BBMRARPURAREIR AR
BEEFEPIRIEERAZINAEM
WARNE - MAREREBHR
Q2T REMER -

RIEBRESMEE

ERMEEUNER) —HeRE
EZ—#od—HALUEREEZ
— B2 EBRTIBER TR IR
(AIRAEBZ&REHBRAKRTE
BR)

s WHEEWEEZRE 2T
EEH 3k

s AKBECDEBRERZEEWR
HERSREZHERN - RERIE
[ | 2R EEERE=T
PEXNABBZESRE
MAGHREKRER  B(a)
AEBECERERZEE BRI
o B R B K (b) A EE
VTEEZINREZEEZB/X
o ER R E R - S E R
BEZEGIHE -

HWAKECERAREERDRS
MEZENKEBATZENRZH B
R ERRREREE AR
Z R R E A RRE ZIRE o i
HYBERNREZEE BRI
DRBREER NEERZEEL
EHE MNARERSES2EZE
EZRERRERZEE - EUIF
AT AKENEREEAE B
HREREENEHEAENZTRRA
SEARERNEETZEETE -

2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT %3

99



100

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that

are integral to the contractual terms.
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including

historical and forward-looking information.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EXRSTEERBEZ)

214 sRMEEREE)
— B E(E)

REHEEE QMR EEO0R®N S
BMEERIEED - A - RETHE
MR BAEBINBE KRR A K
financial asset to be in default when internal or external B AR E A S BB E B iR
FALHRIBRERORERENEHE
B AEENAERRZEeREE
into account any credit enhancements held by the EBA - EEEEHAT@WEE HIE
eRER SRMEERTHEE -

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,

in certain cases, the Group may also consider a

information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive

the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking

Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual

cash flows.

REEKATFENEHEE £
MAETAIgE R AR E - AR
TEHRABEHENE 5 EYEIE (A
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the TERM)IN  HEEATEEDEER
RIEBEEEEE -

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement

simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk FIEE — SR T HEBAIIATER
RAZ B BB oK =R
m- BEEBBEEES
W12 AFESEEE

has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance

is measured at an amount equal to 12-month

ECLs 18
Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has FoMRER — 2RI EBVLHERE

EERREZE M - 8
T EERESREE
BEEBBEREHESENK

increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial

assets and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs FIEMEEEE
Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at FZRE - RBRESHBEEREN
the reporting date (but that are not purchased TRIBEE(EIEEE N

RIGEERE)  HE
BREERASNREEH

or originated credit-impaired) and for which

the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

For finance lease receivables included in trade and
other receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy

to adopt the general approach in calculating ECLs with

policies as described above.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,

as loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, and payables,

net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables and borrowings.
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

depends on their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

2.17

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and

borrowings)

After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in the statement of profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and

settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.20

Share capital

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares

are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling price less
any estimates costs to be incurred to completeness and

disposals.
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amount of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,

which are not restricted as to use.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in

the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the
sale of machinery and the provision of maintenance
services for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns, discounted to their present values

as appropriate.
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
tax authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of each reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

and

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

2.

EXRSTEERBEE)

2.22 Fri8®i(4E)

BEEBATEREEZE - SRS R
SHREERABZHERELBE
BHREMs2EEEZEZMEE
RERELRE -

B G eS8 F B A 2 B W R AR
EFHBAE - 1

s  (HELEHBAERVITHER—
AR (UFREHAH) <BE
8 iﬁ?@ﬁlﬁﬁ1§¥¢@§ﬁﬁé
MHERFIESSEZE Rk

o MERIMB AT ZIREE@Z
ERVEREZEMS - ﬂﬁ’ﬁﬁlﬁ
ER7BIEEEAZES
gﬁ?%i&ﬂﬁﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁbﬂzg
B4 -

BIETRIRE E AT A TR 2 B i
TR FERPATBEERRREM
ﬂi@)ﬁﬂ%lﬁéﬂéﬁﬁﬂ)\ﬁﬁ o IR

ﬂ%ﬂiﬂﬁaﬁﬁ%%fﬁi* muiii}ﬂi%bﬁﬁ%ﬁ
TR % N2 oK B A 750 38 1 18 4K 85 i #E
wzj\ ’ /‘E 5

e REBIEEEEYIHER—IA
RG(WIFEBE) 2 EEXK
BEMEEZATNRERER
B MRSk - EEFIE
éfF‘*%T a1t K Sk B AR T B 2
WESE &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets

are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange

for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EXRSTEERBEZ)

2.24 WARERR(E)

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For
a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing

component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
(a)  Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is

transferred to the customer.

Incidental to the sale of machinery, the Group also
provides installation services in accordance with
the terms of the contract with customers. These
services, which are not separately provided by
the Group and are bundled together with the sale
of machinery to customers, are highly interrelated
with the sale of machinery and combining them
into a functional machinery that the customers
have contracted to receive. Accordingly, revenue
from the sale of machinery with installation
services is recognised at the point in time when

the respective installation services are completed.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Commission, service and management fee income

Commission, service and management fee income
are recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group. Given that these
services are generally completed within a short
period of time, the revenue from the provision of
these services is recognised when the services

have been rendered.
Revenue from other sources

Finance leasing income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the net investment of the
finance lease or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the net investment of the

finance lease.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis

over the lease terms.
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the

dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25

2.26

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 20(b) to

the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also

service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been maodified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26

2.27

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described

in the previous paragraph.

The dilution effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings

per share.
Employee benefits
(a) Employees’ leave entitlement

Employees’ entitlement to annual leave and long
service leave is recognised when it accrues to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of the reporting period.

Employees’ entitlement to sick leave and maternity

leave is not recognised until the time of leave.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required
to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
percentage of the payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.
Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses. It recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.
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31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28

2.29

2.30

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of

funds.
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they

are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to

the financial statements.
Foreign currency translation

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.30 Foreign currency translation (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or

loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain group companies
are currencies other than Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.30 Foreign currency translation (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
“Cumulative translation adjustments” under reserves. On
disposal of an operation with currency other than Hong
Kong dollar, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular operation is recognised

in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of certain group companies
with functional currency other than Hong Kong dollar
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these group companies which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair
value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the finance
department of the Company under policies approved
by the board of directors. The finance department
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The
board of directors provides written principles for overall
risk management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments,

and investment of excess liquidity.
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally in Hong
Kong and Mainland China and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the United States dollar (the “US dollar”),
Japanese Yen, and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign

operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 202

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Management has set up a policy to require
entities within the Group to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. Foreign exchange risk
arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the

entity’s functional currency.

The Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US
dollar (“US$") at a range of rates between
7.75 and 7.85, and therefore, the foreign
exchange exposure between the US dollar

and the Hong Kong dollar is limited.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed

to foreign currency translation risk.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity at the end of the reporting period
to a reasonably possible change in the
Yen and RMB exchange rate, with other

variables held constant, of the Group’s profit

MBEREEE)
3.1 HMBEABRERE)
(a) HEmEE(E)
() SMNERS ()

TRETERMGE B
RIAEZBERT A&
B B BT 15 754 B gt B 3 B
BRAREEXRSIER
BN BRE o

before income tax.

2020 —ECEH

If Yen weakens against HK$ fisi BB 3BT Rz E

If Yen strengthens against i BB R B THE
HK$

If RMB weakens against HK$ A REEETRE

If RMB strengthens against i AR R AT AE
HK$

2019 —ZE-NF

If Yen weakens against HK$ 4B E X BT E

If Yen strengthens against fisi B B 5 & s FHE
HK$

If RMB weakens against HK$ i AR 5B Tz @&

If RMB strengthens against i AR 5 & T HHE

HK$
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets at floating rates except
for cash and cash equivalents, its income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest

rates.

The cash and cash equivalents earn interest
at floating rates and expose the Group to

cash flow interest rate risk.

The finance lease receivables earn interest
at fixed rates and expose the Group to fair

value interest rate risk.

The interest rate risk from financial liabilities
arises from borrowings. Borrowings that are
subject to variable rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, finance lease receivables and

certain other receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate
financial strength and an appropriate percentage
of down payment. It also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable to ensure that adequate loss
allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. The
Group implements its industry risk management
system according to its plan based on the actual
situation with a focus on industry research,
customer credit rating, and understanding of
the lessee’s operations and financial condition.
The Group also obtained deposits from lessees
as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure
spreading over a number of counterparties and

customers.

No credit limits were exceeded during the
reporting period, and management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by
counterparties. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security except for finance leasing
operation, for which in the event of default, the
Group may demand return of finance lease assets,
repossession of finance lease assets or disposal

of finance lease assets, whichever appropriate.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-

end staging classification as at 31st March.

As at 31st March 2020

3. MBEREE®)
3.1 HMBEBRERE)
(b) EEmEE)
5 A R A R
TREHNERAEEREER

RONEELAEEZESERRA
B E2ERBHEHRIFE
HtpER AT EEANH T BE
RAKENHNBERTER)
RR=ZA=+—HOFHERER
DT

R=-B-ZEF=A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12184
BECERR 2R EERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
ER L2 EokR FIRA ok #ap7S
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables® B o IE - - - 298,134 298,134
Bills receivable 2
— Not yet past due — HARBEH 143,277 - - - 143,277
Finance lease HEHERER
receivables B
— Not yet past due — HRBH 192,589 - - - 192,589
Other financial assets AR S REM
included in trade and FEWERIR
other receivables HihepEE
— Normal** — EE* 27,582 — — — 27,582
Pledged deposits HRES
— Not yet past due — WRBH 777 - - - 777
Cash and cash ReRBe%E
equivalents JHEB
— Not yet past due — WRBH 705,310 - - - 705,310
1,069,535 — - 298,134 1,367,669
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(continued)

As at 31st March 2019

3. MXKEBREE®)
3.1 BI¥EBREEE)
(b) EREEE)

REERERFREEER(E)

RZZE—NEF=ZA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
BHEEEE 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RER E2oRER EIMRER kR 45t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FHET
Trade receivables* B 5 R FIE — = = 382,088 382,088
Bills receivable KRR
— Not yet past due — WARBH 2,259 — - — 2,259
Finance lease BERERK
receivables A
— Not yet past due — WAREH 215,218 — — — 215,218
Other financial assets FAB S REM
included in trade and JE W KB A
other receivables HiemErE
— Normal** — g 29,526 — — — 29,526
Pledged deposit e
— Not yet past due — AR 4,239 — — — 4,239
Cash and cash RehBeFE
equivalents HH
— Not yet past due — HABH 619,260 — — — 619,260
870,502 — — 382,088 1,252,590
g For trade receivables to which the Group applies * A K B E A S ORE R AR

the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note
16.

> The credit quality of other financial assets included
in trade and other receivables is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and
the ability to close out market positions. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit

lines.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity

requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, and to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities by maturity based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash

flows.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3. MBEREEE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HBEREEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEBELEEE)
On demand
or less than

1 year 1 to 5 years Total
RERS—FUR —Z1E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

At 31st March 2020 R-ZB-EE=F=+-H

Financial liabilities included in AR S REMER

trade and other payables FERNERAE 1,138,368 - 1,138,368
Deposits received Bz e 21,319 16,663 37,982
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE 54,525 6,616 61,141
Lease liabilities HERE 13,595 11,837 25,432
1,227,807 35,116 1,262,923

At 31st March 2019 R-ZE-hE=A=+-H

Financial liabilities included in AR S RAMER
trade and other payables FEMEHAE 523,326 — 523,326
Deposits received Blize 20,735 46,526 67,261
544,061 46,526 590,587
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEKBER

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued)

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from last year, was
to maintain net cash position. Net cash position is
calculated as cash and cash equivalents less bank
and other borrowings and lease liabilities. The net
cash positions as at 31st March 2020 and 2019 were
analysed as follows:

\./

3. MBEREE®E)
3.2 EBEXEBEREE)

REZE-_Z-_ZF=A=+—HIF
B ANEEEREFZERE - #RF
WEARMN o FR SRR TIER S KR
SEEBERRBITREMGEENRA
EgBHE RZZTEZZTFR=ZF
—hWEZA=1t—"B2FBReMhnn
MR

31st March 1st April 31st March
2020 2019 2019
i S 32 —Z-NF —Z-NF
=A=t—H mA—H ERET=FH
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
(note)
(Htt)
Cash and cash equivalents and net R&NESEEIEH KR
cash position (note 19) SRR (A E19) 705,310 619,260 619,260
Less: Bank and other borrowings o BAREMEE
(note 22) (Btst22) (60,008) = =
Lease liabilities (note 24) HMEBEMHE24) (24,524) (15,844) —
Net cash R 5 620,778 603,416 619,260
Note: st

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and the effect of the initial adoption is
adjusted against the opening balances as at 1st April 2019 with
no adjustments to the comparative amounts as at 31st March
2019. This resulted in a decrease in the Group’s net cash from
HK$619,260,000 to HK$603,416,000 on 1st April 2019 when
compared with the position as at 31st March 2019.

AEBRBEETENERABTEMBRS
ERIF165 MNBEAZTERRE—
E-NEFHA-BZENERIELRFE
MAEH " E-—NAF=A=+—HZLR
SHELRARE - Al B_F—-hF=H
=t —RAZRAMEL  AERERSFEA
619,260,000 B TR E_E—AFMA—
H 603,416,000 87T °
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables and bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to short term maturities of these

instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible
for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for

interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
The following methods and assumptions were used to

estimate the fair values:

The fair values of finance lease receivables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The carrying amounts of finance lease receivables

approximate to their fair values.
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31st March 2020

PSR B IR ()
33 ERMIAZARBERAAEBEER

(&

TRHBAREEMIAZ ARME
HEZR

INARBEFEZEE
R=-ZE-_EF=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

FATIERET 2 ARBETE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
BEXABRE EXAFTEE
mEHRE BAHE BARE
(& 5—) (&B1=) (BB=)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value A A Eif AR
through profit or loss LEMBE 71,258 - - 71,258
As at 31st March 2019 R=E-AF=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AT EBETZ AR EFE
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BERAHE EATAHRR
THRE BABE BABE
(& 51—=) (FAN=) (A=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Financial assets at fair value B2 A Eif AR
through profit or loss ZERMEE 36,760 — — 36,760
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities

measured at fair value as at 31st March 2020 and 2019.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities (2019: Nil).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom reflect the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Provision for expected credit losses on trade

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by

customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At the
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates

are analysed.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

4.1

4.2

4.3

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forward-looking information. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking estimates may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is

disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.
Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill is impaired
in accordance with the accounting policies stated in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. For the purposes
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired has been
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit which is
reviewed for impairment based on forecast operating
performance and cash flows. The recoverable amount of
an asset or a cash-generating unit has been determined
based on value in use calculations. Cash flow projection
is prepared on the basis of reasonable assumptions
reflective of prevailing and future market conditions, and

are discounted appropriately.

Provision for expected credit loss on other financial
assets included in trade and other receivables

The ECLs for other financial assets included in trade
and other receivables apart from the financial assets
mentioned in note 4.1 above are based on assumptions
about probability of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting inputs to the ECL calculations, based on
the Group’s historical loss record, current conditions as

well as forward-looking information.
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5.1

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEESR
Revenue 51 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTAT :
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Revenue from contracts with REEAFZFEHNZBA
customers (note) (Hi#E)
Recognised at a point in time: RE—FFERER
Sales of goods SHEE M 2,922,095 2,271,973
Recognised over time: R R
Commission and other service e REMREKA
income 36,158 66,756
2,958,253 2,338,729
Revenue from other sources REHAMREZWA
Income from finance lease REBMEREZRHEZ WA
arrangements 26,827 34,993
Income from operating lease RELERERHEZ WA
arrangements 36,638 23,288
3,021,718 2,397,010
Note: Bt -
Disaggregated revenue information BIFRAEH
Geographical markets ez s
2020 2019
—EB-BF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The PRC including Hong Kong FE(EEEE) 2,727,399 2,243,953
Asia — others TN — HAth 230,854 94,776
Total revenue from contracts with customers K EEEFE A 42 AU A 2,958,253 2,338,729
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.1

Revenue (continued)
Note: (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the amounts disclosed
in the segment information to the revenue from contracts with

customers:

For the year ended 31st March 2020

¢ Ny
N/
5. WARDEERE)
51 WA(E)
Bt - (4%)
TREFIDEERFREY SHARE AT

FatIZ BN ZE

BE-Z-ZF=A=+-HLEE

Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation
BREER
28R IR HE
% £33
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Sales to external customers HONEPHE 2,949,513 72,205 3,021,718
Less: Revenue from other sources o ERRZ WA — (63,465) (63,465)
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ REBRZFE A 42 BIKA 2,949,513 8,740 2,958,253

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in RBEHITFHALANEBEZ

contract liabilities at the beginning of BERERBA ¢
the reporting period:
Sale of goods HEE®D

TRATAREE BPFARDEETRA
BEPHERZBADHE -

2019
—T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
121,415 83,002

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied when the control of the
goods is transferred, generally on delivery of goods and when
the respective installation services are completed. Payment
is generally due within 5 to 180 days from completion of
installation. Payment in advance is normally required.

EXEE
ERAKBEOREZERBURNT

HE R
BHEENEREREHNE—RRZNE
an ) S B A 22 3R AR 5 SE AR B SEAK © AR —
RN TR TTRK 145 ZE 180 RAEI &S -
—RRIVRTRSER TN
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.1

5.2

Revenue (continued)
Note: (continued)
Commission and other service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion of
services, except for new customers, where payment in advance

is normally required.

The amount of unsatisfied performance obligation principally
comprises the balance of contract liabilities as at 31st
March 2020 and 31st March 2019, which are expected to be
recognised in one year.

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into two major reportable operating segments — hi-
tech distribution and services, and leasing. The hi-tech
distribution and services operating segment derives
revenue from the sale of goods, commission and
other service income. The leasing operating segment
derives revenue from finance lease and operating lease

arrangements, and trading of lease assets.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
income tax. The adjusted profit/loss before income
tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/
loss before tax except that finance income, finance
costs, fair value gain/loss from the Group’s financial
instruments as well as corporate and other unallocated

expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, right of use assets, other
non-current assets, inventories and trade and other
receivables. Unallocated assets comprise pledged
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, deferred tax assets and

corporate and others.
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.2

Operating segment information (continued)

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other
payables, deposits received, lease liabilities and other
non-current liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise
bank and other borrowings, income tax liabilities and
corporate and others.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment.

There were no significant sales between the operating
segments during the years ended 31st March 2020 and
2019. The operating results for the year are as follows:

¢ Na_
N/
5. WARDEERE)
5.2 KEHWEER(E)
SEEBITEOREESEMATER

HMEMNRIE BElize HEA
1:’?)32E1’r|ﬂ#u|b§b%1 s RAEAE
BRRTREMES  MEHAR
AR EEREA -
EARXBRERAENE BEER
1o

REBEZ fi& F-NF=
H=1— EIJJ:if e EEL

BEAHE - iW%«i%%%ﬁﬂT :

Year ended 31st March 2020
HE-Z-BF=fA=t-HLFE

Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation
BNEER
FERRE HE
% %%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAT
Revenue A
— Sales to external customers — HINEFHE 2,949,513 72,205 3,021,718
Segment results DEEEE 151,873 30,050 181,923
Changes in fair value of financial assets at BAREHABRZEREEZARER
fair value through profit or loss (7,453)
Finance income BIIMA 9,463
Finance costs HBER (2,886)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses CEREMAIEER (39,810)
Profit before income tax WA B AT & 141,237
Income tax expense PSR (30,261)
Profit for the year F R 110,976
Capital expenditure BARX 8,894 20,069 28,963
Corporate and other unallocated expenditure ¥R EfARDEH L 302
29,265
Depreciation 3 17,612 13,916 31,528
Corporate and other unallocated depreciation ~(MEREMAAEHTE 1,029
32,557
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade ~ Z 5 REERE UG ERE/
and finance lease receivables, net (RERE)  F8 1,575 (1,496) 79
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant HENE  BERIEEE 2 ks - 38
and equipment, net (59) (1,707) (1,766)
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEERE)
(continued)
5.2 Operating segment information (continued) 5.2 RESEEH(E)
Year ended 31st March 2019
BE-_Z-NEF=A=1+—-HLLEE
Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation Total
BNEER HE
DI RREER 75 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Revenue WA
— Sales to external customers — HINRPHE 2,338,729 58,281 2,397,010
Segment results VAR ES 137,901 21,794 159,695
Changes in fair value of financial &2 AREtABRZE8
assets at fair value through BEZDREE
profit or loss 716
Finance income BB A 2,669
Finance costs 5 E R (3,041)
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ REMADEER
expenses (22,461)
Profit before income tax B BT SR A A 137,578
Income tax expense FrERi it (27,425)
Profit for the year FRE T 110,153
Capital expenditure EXRAZ 9,971 53,136 63,107
Depreciation e 6,465 14,138 20,603
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ¥R HMAD R E
depreciation 1,203
21,806
Write-off of trade receivables WisHE 5 pE MR 762 — 762
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 k@ EHBEEKTE
and finance lease receivables, HERE - FE
net (1,458) (810) (2,268)
Impairment of obsolete ARFERE
inventories 808 — 808
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME « BE REHFHE
items of property, plant and BzEE/(KH)
equipment, net FE 221 (254) (33)
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEERE)
(continued)
5.2 Operating segment information (continued) 52 RESEER(E)
The segment assets and liabilities at the end of the RBERRZOBEEREEDT ¢

reporting period are as follows:

Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation
BEREER
DERRE HE
% £
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
FET FET FET
At 31st March 2020 R-B-ZF5=A=+-H
ASSETS BE 1,668,775 339,483 2,008,258
Segment assets PEREE
Unallocated assets: AABEE :
Deferred tax assets RREREAE 813
Financial assets at fair value BROAEFARRZ
through profit or loss SREE 71,258
Pledged deposits EREe 777
Cash and cash equivalents Be B SEEE 705,310
Corporate and others PEREM 2,057
Total assets per the consolidated ~— GARBRARAZBE
statement of financial position FeH 2,788,473
LIABILITIES afE
Segment liabilities AEBE 1,548,363 67,203 1,615,566
Unallocated liabilities: AOBAE
Income tax liabilities FIisHAasE 22,533
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE 60,008
Corporate and others TEREM 1,902
Total liabilities per the consolidated  4FA& B EMARAZ
statement of financial position BfEEs 1,700,009
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (continued)

At 31st March 2019

ASSETS

Segment assets

Unallocated assets:
Deferred tax assets
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Pledged deposit
Cash and cash equivalents

Corporate and others

Total assets per the consolidated

statement of financial position

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities:
Income tax liabilities

Corporate and others

Total liabilities per the consolidated

statement of financial position

RZZE-AE=A=1+-8

AE

NREE

ADBREE :
BETHEEE
BARBR ARG

SREE

igiien
ReRRELSERR
ERALRL

FRUBRARAZ
BES

FRUBRARAZ
SLEE

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZ R ER AR

5. WARSEER @)

5.2 RESPERE)

Hi-tech

distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation

BRREMR
72 8RR HE
£% #7%
HK$ 000 HK$°000
FET TET
826,934 324,704
678,298 134,204

Total

st
HK$'000
FETT

1,151,638

1,564
36,760
4,239

619,260
1,757

1,815,218

812,502

11,524
2,392

826,418
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&)

REVENU

(continued)

E AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5.2 Operating segment information (continued)

Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

The Group’s activities are conducted
predominantly in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
the rest of Asia. Revenue by geographical location
is determined on the basis of the destination of
shipment of goods for the hi-tech distribution and
service operating segment and the location of the

customers by the leasing operation segment.

5.

WARS

5.2 K&

DA R ()

DEER(E)

HEEH

(a)

KEHIES Z WA

AEBEEBEIENEE PH
A B BN B A TT AT o 42
IR E 8D 2 WA F R
EmD#HRIRBRE D BNE
Emz BH R ERB S
BEFZFAEMETE

The following table provides an analysis of the TREHEMBAESH 2K
Group’s revenue by geographical location: EBRADIT :
2019
—Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F#T
The PRC including Hong Kong FE(BIEER) 2,790,864 2,302,234
Asia — others M — HAt 230,854 94,776
3,021,718 2,397,010
Non-current assets (b) ERBEE
The non-current asset geographical information is AR A& E#90% .2 3k fﬁ@J
not presented since over 90% of the Group’s non- BEMNRTPE(BEERS)
current assets are located in the PRC (including Iﬁf’i”#bm@)ﬁﬁziﬂlliﬁ
Hong Kong). #} o
Information about major customers FHETEEFZEH
During the year ended 31st March 2020, revenue of REE—Z-_TF=A=+—HIt

HK$1

custo

,053,700,000 was derived from sales to a single

mer of the hi-tech distribution and services

operating segment, which accounted for more than 10%

of the

Group’s total revenue.

FEZ - WA 1,053,700,00078 7T T4 2
BERSEEERDHEEREKLEE D

EEFEHZHE 648 KE

U AE10% °
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION O

(continued)
5.2 Operating segment information (continued)
Information about major customers (continued)

During the year ended 31st March 2019, revenue of
HK$317,800,000 was derived from sales to a single
customer of the hi-tech distribution and services
operating segment, which accounted for more than 10%

of the Group’s total revenue.

WARDBER (@)

5.2 RESPERE)

BERLTEEFZEHN(E)

REBEE-_T—NAF=ZA=1+—81t
i&vuﬁzﬂwwaoooooﬁ%m)ﬂé

BRSMRERD

BE-FFFHZEE
B A8 10% °

M RGEE D

EAREHE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HMWwARWE FHE
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net is as REB 2 H A R a=CFRE) 2 2T
follows: T
2019
—E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE - HEKRREEE
plant and equipment, net ZWa - FER 1,766 33
Changes in fair value of financial BRAR B ABR I CREE
assets at fair value through profit or AN TN
loss — 716
Government grants (note) SR ) 9,567 1,120
Others HAh 1,928 1,046
13,261 2,915
Note: et :

Various government grants have been received in respect of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries in relation to import discount interest
funds and a subsidiary for being a high technology enterprise. The
government grants received have been recognised in “other income
and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants
as at 31st March 2020 (2019: Nil).
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ERAEETEMBARREARRIISES R —
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\./

7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BREIBHANRF

AEBZBAEHRMaFEMER,(GEA)

The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

THERE :

2019
—E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Hat FET FET
Cost of inventories sold BEEGFERA 2,571,955 1,981,222
Cost of lease payments not included T#HAHEHREEE
in the measurement of lease Z EE A
liabilities 16,847 —
Other costs H Ao pi 7R 33,540 35,380
Cost of sales SHE A 2,622,342 2,016,602
Net foreign exchange loss SNIE B 185 58 18,485 2,523
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BB R
equipment e 13 19,319 21,806
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEENE 15 13,238 —
Employment costs =% 8 147,556 124,424
Minimum lease payments under RBKLEHE 2 &K
operating leases MERK — 15,198
Other lease payments not included in @A EHEEE
the measurement of lease liabilities 2 H A E R 948 —
Write-off of trade receivables HiiH B 5 rE RIE — 762
Provision/(reversal) of impairment of £ 5 & U FR I8 i & 1%
trade receivables, net &/ (Bm|) - F58 1,575 (1,458)
Reversal of impairment of finance L& 78 & P WK IE R
lease receivables, net BEEE - F58 (1,496) (810)
Fair value loss on financial assets at AR EFABRZZE
fair value through profit or loss* BMEEZ AR EEE" 7,453 —
Impairment of obsolete inventories BRFERE — 808
Auditor’'s remuneration SRR & 2,280 2,200

*

statement of profit or loss

Included in “other expense” on the face of the consolidated

2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT F3k
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

An analysis of employment costs including the emoluments

of the directors and chief executive and the five highest paid

1R A A

BREAAN(BEASEEERESTHRAR
ZHERABRSFALZME) DM

individuals of the Group is as follows: T
2019
—ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Directors’ fees E-Tokn 1,200 1,200
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e RMREYH =
kind 118,415 103,601
Discretionary bonuses B IBEE4L 13,084 9,040
Equity-settled share option expenses  UARRHEAEE ~ BIRER S 3,433 —
Retirement benefits — defined BRIREH — REHKETS
contribution schemes 11,424 10,583
147,556 124,424

(a) The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed
by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the Group (the employer) and each of its employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income as defined under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The monthly contribution of each of the employer and
employees is subject to a cap of HK$1,500 (2019:
HK$1,500) per employee and any further contributions

are voluntary.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in Mainland
China, the Group contributes to state-operated
retirement plans for its employees in Mainland China.
The employees contribute fixed percentages of their
basic salaries as required by the local authorities while
the Group contributes a further amount as required
by the local authorities. The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-
retirement benefits beyond these contributions. The
state-operated retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR

(a)

AEBEERHEBEREREZHERS
HEAEEE([RESTE ] %
FER—HARBYXEAERZMA
EMRFREE - RIFBEDSFE - K
SE(EX)LEBRRERESAREER
BERARA(ERRBRRHIMEATES
FHEIEG]) 2 5% AT B H ALK -
BEREESBZEAHRKLERS
FHEE1,500BT(ZF—NF:
1,500 7T) » T E E A &BIMERTY
EER -

BPBEAMZ R R RR IR
REEREHE A E S [ R E
W2 RN EIHER - BB IRIITH
MAECEAFTEEEA LK
R MARBERIZZ S 77 A
MEZBINEEER - BRAFHK
o NEEBE N ERERRK
TRERRBAZEME - ZFEXK
M ENRTEARARRARKESR
XA EEERAKE o
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8.

(b) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

\/

o

(5 12ZNE D)

(b) E=ME
IR GEM LM ARA - FAE R ARSI
5383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) (Nt & &
AI(RBEEFSAR) R 1E 2 204

BZFENEFHHOT

Salaries, Equity-  Employer's
allowances settled  contributions
and benefits  Discretionary  share option  to retirement
in kind bonuses expenses scheme
D)1 NREGEZ RifctEZ
ik L) B BRERX Exitn Az
HKS’000 HKS’000 HKS§’000 HKS§ 000 HK§’000 HK§’000
z:23 7 FEr FEr 7T TEr
2020 S 2:3
Executive directors YiEs
Ms. Zhang Yifan F-fat 240 4,080 10,000 1,225 18 15,563
Mr. Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming REREE 240 2470 570 122 18 3,420
Independent non-executive directors By FH{TEE
Mir. Kenneth Kon Hiu King AL 240 - - 122 - 362
Mir. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse PEREE 20 - - 122 - 362
Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee RuEfrs 20 - - 122 - 362
1,200 6,550 10,570 1,713 36 20,069
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8. MEEAA(#&)
(b) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (b) EEME(E)
Salaries, Equity- Employer's
allowances setfled  contributions
and benefits  Discretionary ~ share option  to retirement
Fees in kind bonuses expenses scheme Total
e EMR RERE RiREEZ
ik Enila BERL BRERR B ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000
TAT A1 AT FAT A1 TAT
2019 ZE-0F
Executive directors Ky £
Ms. Zhang Yifan F—fxt 240 3,450 5,000 — 18 8,708
Mr. Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming REREE 240 2,352 549 = 18 3,159
Independent non-executive directors By FH{TEE
Mir. Kenneth Kon Hiu King TRI%E 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse PEARE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee BiUERE 240 — - - = 240
1,200 5,802 5,549 — 36 12,587
There was no other arrangement under which a director i —ECTER-T-NEF=

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

years ended 31st March 2020 and 2019.
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8.

(c)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest

in the Group for the year include 2 (2019: 2) directors,

whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis

presented in note (b) above. The emoluments payable

(HH2&NED)

(c) BEBBREHFAL

—\/

AEERFAMEERIABAL
BEME(CE-LE: WAB)E
= HEHMECR EXME(b) 2H 2
DHHPRR - FRENAEZREH

to the five highest paid individuals during the year are ATzZMEmT :
as follows:
2019
—T-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and e o RRREA
bonuses 13,382 10,398
Discretionary bonuses BB E4L 16,586 12,578
Equity-settled share option ARG 2 AR IE R
expenses 1,517 —
Employer’s contributions to RIRET 82 B E 4R
retirement scheme 158 220
31,643 23,196

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals fell

within the following bands:

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000

HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000

3,000,001 # L E 3,500,000 %8 7T
3,500,001 7T = 4,000,000 7 7T
4,000,001 % 7% 4,500,000 78 7T
4,500,001 # 7L £ 5,000,000 F 7T
8,500,001 47 £ 9,000,000 7T

15,500,001 # 7L Z 16,000,000 7 7T

hEBESHFALTHEETIIEER

Number of

individuals
AE

2019

Number of
individuals

AH
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9. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS HMBEBRAREHR
An analysis of finance income and costs is as follows: BB ARERBSITLOT :
2020 2019
—EIEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Finance income: MREWA -
Interest income from bank deposits RITFE I ZFBHWA 9,463 2,669
Finance costs: BEER :
Interest on bank and other BITRHEMEEZ
borrowings A 1,873 3
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEZFE 1,013 =
Fair value loss on derivative PTESRMIAY
financial instruments N EEE — 3,038
2,886 3,041
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated at the rate
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which
is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019.
The first HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining

assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Subsidiaries established in the Mainland China are subject
to Mainland China corporate income tax at the standard rate
of 25% (2019: 25%). Amtec Shenzhen, a subsidiary of the
Company, was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15%, as it

is recognised as a high and new technology enterprise.

The amounts of income tax expense recorded in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss represent:

10.

P&z

RAREREBNERERBEE T
=RF - BEFNGHBF NG ERBR
Fl Iz L L165% (=T — NF : 16.5%)
e EAEEREE =N\ /=%
— NV FE Al F R A B FI S B R AR
FlAEEERER BB RRBRIN -
Z BB 2 & B 2,000,000 t(ZZT— A
£ : 2,000,000 7T ) 2 & FR Bt i M) H A 2
8.25% Bt + M aR T FERBLE F AR F =
16.5% Bt o

R B R b AR S22 [T B R Bl B 1R 25% (=
T—NEF : 25%) ZIREB EGMFE R
SR - BRARARINBARIED
FIEERARTREMEE  MZARE
B15% HEBE °

REEBERAR AR LS8

2019
—ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current taxation EHNIA
Hong Kong profits tax BERNEH
— current year — REE 15,999 17,314
— overprovision in prior years — BAFEBEREE (1,061) =
Mainland China corporate income B A 1 PR ASBE
tax
— current year — REE 15,193 10,877
— overprovision in prior years — BAFERERE (621) (766)
Deferred IERE 751 —
30,261 27,425
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before

income tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in

which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are

domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and

a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax

rates) to the effective tax rates are as follows:

10.

FREBITH (4#)

BARRREKRIOMBARMERDEE
BB E M X E 2 @R RR TS AT A
HRBEREFE HBRRAS 2 HER - U
RERBE(BUAERR ) BRERB R 2 ¥
BRANE

2019
—ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax B FT1S B4 Al i ) 141,237 137,578
Tax calculated at the average REARBRAREEERENZ
domestic tax rates applicable EHEMFREE 2 B
to profits in the respective
jurisdictions 25,841 25,808
Tax effect of: ML
— income not subject to tax — BARBRZBA (4,450) (5,789)
— expenses not deductible for tax — N2 H 10,854 7,574
— super-deduction of eligible — ABEREREY
research and development FREEIEH
expenditure (1,221) (1,279)
— adjustments of current tax in — BEAAT A BB A 18
respect of previous periods AR (1,682) (766)
— tax losses not recognised — KRR HIEEE 919 1,877
Tax expense BIESH 30,261 27,425

For the year ended 31st March 2020, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was 18.3% (2019: 18.8%). The change

in the weighted average applicable tax rate is caused by a

change in the profitability of the Group’s subsidiaries in the

respective jurisdictions.
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BAMNEFTABEAR183%(ZFT — 1
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11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31st March 2020 (2019: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the Company. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation was the total of the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all
share options.

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31st March 2019 had been adjusted to reflect the Share
Consolidation (as defined in note 20(a)) of the Company
during the year ended 31st March 2019.

Earnings B
Profit attributable to shareholders of ARG

the Company, used in the basic NN B) IR R FE (i A
and diluted earnings per share

calculation

11.

12.

HEREAREERNZ

\/I

iR

EETEBRNBE_ZT_ZTF=H
=t+—BIFEZEARE(ZE—NF
&) -

ARAREERKRRECSRER

FREARRF TS BEAR QR RE R AR
%@Mlﬂ%mma?& TE B 2 NFETF
HEGETE

AR R T B 2 ) R SR A
FPURFIE « A HER 2 BB
ETFHRRBRHSREARH 2 FR
BRTHBRAE - AR BRAAERE
B AT 2 EE AT 2 BB 2 N
BT -

HE-ZT—NGF=-A=t+—RALFECE
BEARBEERNELHE  URBARA
ﬂ%ﬁﬁ_"—hifﬂ:+—5¢¢§
EITZ R E M (EE RHEE20(a)) ©

2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FrET FET
110,976 110,153
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. ARAFREERBRREMERERNZ)
TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Number of shares
R EE

Shares ®H
Weighted average number of ordinary RRFEEREREF 2 21T
shares in issue, used in the basic TR AR NHE T 15 B
earnings per share calculation 272,580,805 272,580,805

Effect of dilution — weighted average  #&E — L@ INEFHE

number of ordinary shares:

Assumed to have been issued at BRERFE N2 ARITERER
no consideration on deemed RETTE R AR R B LA SR (B
exercise of all share options REET
outstanding during the year 2,230 129,862

Weighted average number of ordinary FBR:TESR#EE AT 2 B 31T
shares in issue, used in the diluted T8 AR N T 15 2
earnings per share calculation 272,583,035 272,710,667
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\/

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BERERE
Furniture, Plant and
fixtures machinery and
Leasehold and office Motor  demonstration
improvements equipment vehicles machinery
HE &R 2ER HERBE
VES3 WAZRE RE  URTEESR
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TE7 TEx TET TEx TEx
31st March 2020 “E-EFZA=t-H
At 1st April 2019; R-E-NEMA-H :
Cost WA 9,169 23,234 6,064 72,882 111,349
Accumulated depreciation E (4,330) (16,098) (2,521) (19,996) (42,945)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,839 7,136 3,543 52,886 68,404
At 1st April 2019, net of RZZ-NERA-B
accumulated depreciation NBEHE 4,839 7,136 3,543 52,886 68,404
Additions NE 887 2,637 783 24,958 29,265
Disposals e (254) (28) - (16,117) (16,399)
Depreciation (note 7) WEME7) (1,639) (2,099) (1,229) (14,352) (19,319)
Exchange realignment E 5 3% (278) (359) (148) (3,113) (3,898)
At 31st March 2020, net of R-E-ZF=A=+-8"
accumulated depreciation MR RAHE 3,555 7,287 2,949 44,262 58,053
At 31st March 2020: R-Z_ZF=A=+-R:
Cost AR 9,162 15,120 6,481 68,906 99,669
Accumulated depreciation 25HE (5,607) (7,833) (3,532) (24,644) (41,616)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,555 7,287 2,949 44,262 58,053
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. M% BERKRE @)

Furniture, Plant and
fixtures machinery and
Leasehold and office Motor  demonstration
improvements equipment vehicles machinery Total
HE B XBR B
mERE LN E NRTEEE fak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAT FAET FHET
31st March 2019 “Z-AF=A=1-H
At 1st April 2018; RZE-\FME—A :
Cost AE 10,694 17,719 3,362 50,850 82,625
Accumulated depreciation 2ithe (3,436) (15,488) (1,475) (11,906) (32,305)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,258 2,231 1,887 38,944 50,320
At 1st April 2018, net of RZZ-\FRA-B
accumulated depreciation Mk R3HE 7,258 2,231 1,887 38,944 50,320
Additions RE 18 6,162 2,819 54,108 63,107
Disposals HE (220) = = (15,202) (15,422)
Transfer B3 — — — (5,198) (5,198)
Depreciation (note 7) FEMWZ7) (1,874) (1,172) (1,079) (17,681) (21,806)
Exchange realignment B % % (343) (85) (84) (2,085) (2,597)
At 31st March 2019, net of R=E-NE=A=1-H"
accumulated depreciation M3 HE 4,839 7,136 3,543 52,886 68,404
At 31st March 2019: RZE-NE=A=t-H:
Cost KAE 9,169 23,234 6,064 72,882 111,349
Accumulated depreciation 25HE (4,330) (16,098) (2,521) (19,996) (42,945)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,839 7,136 3,543 52,886 68,404
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS { No—
\/
B %% R 3k B &
31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BREE
Customer  Distribution
Goodwill relationships  agreements Total
wE EFBR Vil AL @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET BT
31st March 2020 ZE_ZF=f=1-H
At 1st April 2018, R=B-NEEA—R -
31st March 2019, —F-AF=A=1+-8"
1st April 2019 and “T-NENA-BR
31st March 2020: —T-ZTF=A=1+—H
Cost KAE 373,692 19,010 16,750 409,452
Accumulated amortisation Bt — (19,010) (16,750) (35,760)
Net carrying amount REFE 373,692 - — 373,692
Goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit of the Group DEHA 2 ANEER

Hi-tech distribution and services

operation

identified according to operating segments. A segment-level

summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

BRHRE @ 8 R RS E

BENDEEREE

TELABEU - DEERCHEIEMER

FIEATE

2020

—z-25
HK$’000
FrT

373,692

373,692
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14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Hi-tech distribution and services operation cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the hi-tech distribution and
services operation cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation using a pre-tax cash
flow projection based on a financial budget covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projection was 14.0%
(2019: 14.3%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the hi-tech distribution and services operation cash-
generating unit beyond the five-year period was 3% (2019:
3%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations
of the hi-tech distribution and services operation cash-
generating unit for the years ended 31st March 2020 and
2019. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake

impairment testing of goodwill:

Distribution rights — The continuance of the distribution
rights for the hi-tech distribution and services operation in
the foreseeable future would not need any additional cost or

investment.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is based on
past performance and management’s expectations for market

development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects

specific risks relating to the unit.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED itz RESIZRER AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

15.

LEASES 15.
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various office properties
and warehouses for its operations. These leases generally
have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased

assets outside the Group.

HE

FEBEER/EBAA
AEEREEBHBEZEMRIENERR
EzHEAHN ZFHE-RAB1ES
Fo—RME  AEETASERS AR
SEUINZHEYE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) RAEEZE
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets AEBFERAEEEZRABLRFA
and the movements during the year are as follows: ZEUR :
Office properties
and warehouses
WAEYERRE
HK$°000
FET
As at 1st April 2019 R-E—AEMA—B 15,844
Addition RE 22,471
Depreciation charge TERX (13,238)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 58 2 (1,011)
As at 31st March 2020 R-E-_TF=A=+—H 24,066
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5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE#®)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERERBA(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

HESBEZRAERFAZENT

2020
—g=%fF

HK$°000
FET
Carrying amount at 1st April 2019 RZZT—NFMNA—BZKEE 15,844
New leases e 22,471
Accretion of interest recognised during FRMERZF I
the year 1,013
Payments (N (13,785)
Exchange realignment bE 5 (1,019)
Carrying amount at 31st March 2020 RIZE-_ZTF=A=+—HZKHEHE 24,524
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENEE D 13,041
Non-current portion ERENEL S 11,483
24,524

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 3.1(c) to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c)

leases are as follows:

HEAGBZIHA S TRUEREM
F£3.1(c) & -

RIEREREAEE 2B WT :

2020
—E-2F

HK$°000

FAET

Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE 1,013

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FAEEE 2ITEMY 13,238
Expenses relating to short-term leases and ARG HAE K THBR T =2F

other leases with remaining lease terms = A=+—B&ZAKRILZ
ended on or before 31st March 2020 HpAERT 17,795
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RERANERZELEHE 32,046
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note

27(d) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases certain of its plant and machinery
and demonstration machinery under operating lease
arrangements. The leases for these equipment are negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 12 months. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$36,638,000
(2019: HK$23,288,000), details of which are included in note

5 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease

payments receivable by the Group in future periods under

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Within one year —FR

\./

15. #HE#®)

KEBEREBEAGE)

(d) MEZBESARLBERTBEREMF
27(d) # 7 ©

KEBEERHBEA

REBREBEZIELEHELHHELE TR
PSR MBS A R R M 8% o s F R 2 E
HAFIE1REATE - REBEFNHERZ
& WA 536,638,000 (=T — L F :
23,288,000 L) * A BEHN I B ®MEK
MizES ©

REREBAR - AN 55 B0 R R Bl AR 15 BR EL AR
PRI 2 ZR N A REHE ETHE 2 KRR FE
WHEMRIAT :

2019
—ZET-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET F&T
6,747 2,270

2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT F3k

157



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. B 5 EWFIER H A4 EUFK

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$°000

FrET F#ET

Trade receivables B 5 W GRIE 306,724 389,103
Less: Impairment of trade B S EWEIBERIE

receivables (8,590) (7,015)

298,134 382,088

Bills receivable R EE 143,277 2,259

Trade and bills receivables, net B 5 ERE & R R

(note (a)) RE (BTt (a)) 441,411 384,347
Finance lease receivables B E SR W sRIE 192,923 217,048
Less: Impairment of finance lease  J&f - B & F & fE W KB RE

receivables (334) (1,830)
Finance lease receivables, net RERERWIE  F5E

(note (b)) (W13 (b)) 192,589 215,218
Less: Non-current portion* i JEmENER D (52,317) (50,401)
Finance lease receivables, net, BETHE RN RIEEEE - e o

current portion (note (b)) (H1e# (b)) 140,272 164,817
Prepayments TERT A 7,973 8,743
Other tax recoverable H b AT UR [B] % 1B 27,114 37,747
Other receivables (note (c)) E e GRIA (M52 (c)) 15,433 13,229
Rental and other deposits (note (c)) & RHEMIRE (H:(c)) 12,148 10,284
Leased assets” HEEE" 6,829 3,335

69,497 73,338
Less: Non-current portion* B FERENE D (4,508) (2,167)

Prepayments, deposits and other  FEMFIE - & M H i EURIE
receivables, net, current portion FEE O mEIE S 64,989 71,171

Total trade and other receivables, & 5 & U zKIE K E b & Uk 51008
current portion BEE - REE D 646,672 620,335

*Total trade and other receivables, *& 5 U kT8 & H b fE U 7k 18
non-current portion @z IERBE D 56,825 52,568
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

#

(a)

The leased assets arise from the situations where the Group had
already made payments to vendors or suppliers of machinery
and equipment, but the terms of the lease contracts of the said
machinery and equipment have not commenced. The Group
records these paid amounts under leased assets among its
current assets as such assets had already been earmarked
for leases to customers. Once the terms of a lease contract
commence, the Group ceases to recognise the amount relating
to the leased assets and to recognise the finance lease
receivables due under the lease contract.

Trade and bills receivables, net

The Group’s trading terms with its customers of hi-tech
distribution and services operation are mainly on
letters of credit or documents against payment, and in
some cases granting a credit period of 5 to 180 days,
except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. In respect of the Group’s leasing
operation, trade receivables are settled based on the
terms stipulated in the lease agreements. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. Since
the Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its

trade and bills receivable balances.

16. EZBWFHAREBWFRIERZ)

*

(a)

HEBENASEE ME 7 Ies MR Et
FERI AR LA 28 R R SR E A R 9 48R
R R AR ERHIER TELE « AREREERZ
FEXNEeRAERBEETHNEEERE -
NREHEECEECFEETERS - &
BRMBH &ML AEEBENTBERZ
HEEERESHE  URIAHEESRETH
BMEMERKFOR -

BERERERERRE  FH

AEFBRSHEBERD HRRBEE
BEPHETEEZKREERER
BIMNRRE - MEREF SRR
NF5AE180ATNEZEEH - #
HREP—MABLENR - iAEHE
ZHEXEBME  BH5HEWKIET
RIBTE W ZEFTET A 2 R EE -
NE&EE Sk H K IE 2 KK
BHlFEREEFINEERESEER
b - mAREBERESEHRNAMNE
e HRAEEZE S EKREAER
EREESRAETRER - 1
EEAEFRZEERR - AEBEW
EREE S ERGERERE RS
A EE R M b5 A RFA
ZARFE o
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. EZRWHREREMERRIEAE)
(a) Trade and bills receivables, net (continued) (a) EZEWHEREWZE  FHEE)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B 5 W 3IE /LB B 18 B R B
trade receivables are as follows: R
2020 2019
—EIEH —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At beginning of year RER] 7,015 8,473
Impairment losses/(reversal of BEEE CREEBIERE) -
impairment losses), net FER 1,575 (1,458)
At end of year RER 8,590 7,015
An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based RIREHR - E 5 EWFIE & EIR
on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, as at the ERRBREAHMNKREBEREER
end of the reporting period is as follows: 2RO ¢
2020 2019
—EoEE —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
90 days or less 90 HEk AT 355,953 306,442
91 to 180 days 91 HZ 180 H 39,131 60,432
181 to 270 days 181 HE270H 33,458 3,171
271 to 365 days 271 HZ 365 H 10,759 8,402
Over 365 days 38 365 H 2,110 5,900
441,411 384,347
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade and bills receivables, net (continued) (a)

The Group has applied the simplified approach to
provide for impairment for ECLs, which included the use
of the lifetime expected loss provision for impairment
of all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit

risk characteristics and the days past due.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31st March 2020

Less than
Current 9 months
B ORAEA

N\

V4

16. ESZEWHEAREMERRIEE)

EZRBFEARBRRE  FHEE)

AEBERABETZRAHEES
BRER R E - ZELTERRT
HAEESREFRERENEY
BRER RFIBEREBEEER
BHREFEAEREAREERR
Fe s EmAS -

FRASERABEERETENE
ZRYWIRNERRRKR A E
FINT

R-BE-_ZEBE=A=+—H

Past due

ki

9-12 Over 12
months months

hETZER  BBT=fEA

Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEIERX(%) 0.9 1.0 1.0 73.5 2.8
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RESEFET) 254,115 33,781 10,863 7,965 306,724
Expected credit loss BREEER(FET)

(HK$'000) 2,308 322 104 5,856* 8,590
* Included an impairment of HK$5,836,000 for a trade ) 5 AH 5 EIGRIE 2 LB 5,836,000

receivable which is assessed to be credit-impaired by the
Group.

BT AREFEERRBAREREE
BE -
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a) Trade and bills receivables, net (continued)

As at 31st March 2019

Current

2l

Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEEFEX(%) 18

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) ERAE(FET) 374,539
Expected credit loss BHEEER(FET)

(HK$'000) 6,753

16. ESZEBWHEAREMEWVRREE)

(a) EBEZEWREREWEE FHEE)
R=_E—NF=A=+—H
Past due
ki
Less than 9-12 Over 12
9 months months months Total
NMERMA  hE+=fER BBET-EA e
1.8 18 18 18
8,556 5,220 788 389,103
154 9% 14 7,015

The financial impact of expected credit losses for bills
receivable under HKFRS 9 is insignificant for the years
ended 31st March 2020 and 2019.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

HE_T-_ZTFR=-F-—NF=A
=+—RHIEFE BRESEVBHER
HREAFIRENERZ 2 BREEE
BrUBRELTERK -

AEEEHRUEFBERERER
FREEN TSI E¥EHE

2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong dollar BT 158 182
US dollar E7T 44,236 134,755
RMB AR 113,429 54,677
Japanese Yen H & 283,130 193,363
Other currencies Hh gk 458 1,370
441,411 384,347
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At 31st March 2020, certain of the Group’s borrowings
were secured by finance lease receivables of
HK$12,095,000 (2019: Nil) (note 22(a)).

Note:

The Group has applied the general approach to measure ECLs
for finance lease receivables. The Group has conducted an
assessment of ECLs according to forward-looking information
and used an appropriate model and assumptions in its
measurement of ECLs. The assumptions included the future
macroeconomic conditions and borrower’s creditworthiness
(e.g.,
corresponding losses). As at 31st March 2020, the probability

the likelihood of default by customers and the

of default applied was 1.1% (2019: 1.6%) and the loss given
default was estimated to be 60.2% (2019: 60.2%).

RZEZTF=R=+—0H K&
BEETHEEURENESEWRE
12,095,000 T( =& — L& : )
TEEIR (M 5E 22(a)) °

Wist -

RNEEE AR F AT 2R E SRR
ENTEBREEEE - RAEERBATEEER
FEBEHEEBE TR EEHEEER
K5 AR A M AE R R R - BRRREER
REBLER N RERANEERR (R
FRAOMA s RAAEIEKR) R_2 -2
F=ZA=+—8 " FERNENNTREES
11% (ZZ—NF : 1.6%) * MEFTELKIE
KR H60.2% (ZF—HF : 60.2%) °
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. EFEWNRAREMEWRIEE)
(b) Finance lease receivables, net (b) EEREEWNE  FHE
2019
—ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Gross investment in finance leases FEAHEHLIERE 208,224 239,143
Less: Unearned finance lease OB REEZ BERERA
income (15,301) (22,095)
Present value of minimum lease R xEAS ZHE
amounts receivable 192,923 217,048
Less: Accumulated allowance for B BETRERE(KE)
impairment (note) (334) (1,830)
192,589 215,218
Less: Current portion B RENER D (140,272) (164,817)
Non-current portion EmENE S 52,317 50,401
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5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

Finance lease receivables, net (continued)
Note: (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of finance
lease receivables are as follows:

16. ESZEBWHEAREMEWVRREE)

(b)

BMEHERRTOR - FEE)
Hiat - (&)

MEEERURBREZEEREEH N
-

2020 2019
—B-2f —T-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REH 1,830 2,640

Impairment losses, net BRI « FE (1,496) (810)

At end of year RER 334 1,830
Gross amounts and present values #8520 12 15 (8

The analysis of the Group’s gross investment in finance
leases and present value of minimum lease amounts
receivable under finance leases by relevant maturity

groupings at the end of the reporting period is as

RN ®E R 2 EEE ISR E
D AEECREHELARERR
BREMERKz&ERSEES
Mo

follows:

Gross amounts

Present values

HWEHE BRE

2020 2020

ZE-EF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FEr FHET FET
Within one year —FR 153,147 188,679 142,772 169,555

After one year but not —FRETBBME

more than two years 55,077 50,464 50,151 47,493
208,224 239,143 192,923 217,048
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Finance lease receivables, net (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s finance lease

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

16. EZRWFANELEWFRIR &)

(b)

MEHERYEE  BHE(E)

AEEREAEREFIAZREE
AToIEHEHE

2019
—E—RF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

US dollar ETT 5,220 3,015
RMB AR 187,369 212,203
192,589 215,218

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed
on financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables at each reporting date by considering
the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. In the situation where
no comparable companies with credit ratings can be
identified, expected credit losses are estimated by a
loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss
record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forward-looking information,
as appropriate. As at 31st March 2020 and 2019, the
Group has concluded that the probability of default and
loss rate were low and the financial impact of expected
credit losses for deposits and other receivables under
HKFRS 9 was insignificant for the years ended 31st
March 2020 and 2019.

(c)

WER  BHSE®REAHNERE R
H W R IE A ) & B BT TR
BEaf FMAAXAZERAEE QM
EARMANATELRATINENZ
ARt o EEEBASREETRM
SAIELBOARERT BHE
EEREBEABEXRSE U2
EREEE S BB DM ETH
o BEEGEFAE  URBIER
RS R ATHE M E R (ER) - K=
E_EER_E-NF=RA=1—
B AEERSEANARIERE
BRE mMBE-_Z-_ZFR T
—NFE=A=+—HLFE BE
ERMBHRELNEIRNRE LA
fh W IENTEHEEEEY &
* o
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(¢) (continued)

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31st
March 2020 and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed

to be minimal.

At 31st March 2020, certain of the Group’s borrowings
were secured by deposits of HK$2,215,000 (2019: Nil)
(note 22(a)).

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16. EZRWFHAR WA &)

(c)

(%)

TRMEEFALMERAERREZ
meR o AR ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁlﬂ&%’\]aaﬁ’
&ﬂﬁﬁigﬁ RZF_FFR-

—hE=H :Jr*Ei ' Eﬂéjﬁfﬁ%

RZZTZZTF=A=+—H &
SEE T8 E Nz $2,215000%
T(ZZE—NF: &) ERREE
22(a)) °

17. BAREFAEBECZESRHEE

2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Listed equity investment, at fair value FHRAIRE  RAARE 374 =
Quoted investment, at fair value WERE  ERARE 70,884 36,760
71,258 36,760

The above investments consist of investments in short-
term market fund and a listed equity investment. They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

At 31st March 2020, a borrowing of the Group was secured
by the quoted investment of HK$70,884,000 (2019: Nil) (note
22(a)).

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR

HiEEBREHMEES R EHEAK
- ANZEREZANWASREIL IFME

BXNA2RHE

SRR G D BRI

AABHABRZEREE °

R_ZE-_TFE=ZF=+—H K&EH—
B E A RBIZE 70,884,000/ (=&
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

18.

19.

INVENTORIES

18. B#&

2019
—ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Finished goods BIRK fh 851,007 38,396
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19. RERBESEEHEEUREKTFEZS
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFERS 333,502 445,403
Time deposits TE BT 372,585 178,096
706,087 623,499

Less: Pledged deposits for securing i - B BEHRES 2 KIFLZS
performance bond (note 29) (HtiE29) (777) —

Pledged time deposit for bank RITRE 2 ERE TR

facilities (note 28) (H1:E28) — (4,239)
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeEEER 705,310 619,260
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

At 31st March 2020, the effective interest rate on short-term
bank deposits was approximately 0.75% (2019: 2.55%) per
annum. These deposits have an average maturity of 37 days
(2019: 26 days).

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

19.

RekBEEEBEUREBEREZS
(#&)
R-_E-_ZTF=ZA=+—8 ' EHHET
FRZEBRFMNEXDHROTBE(ZZE—1
F:2565F) ZEFERZTFHHRAI7
B(ZZE—h%F:268)-

RekReFEEBATIEEE

currencies:
2020 2019
—ECEF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong dollar ABIT 5,943 71,082
US dollar ETT 466,840 242,656
RMB AR 131,262 119,836
Japanese Yen =N 96,733 184,202
Other currencies Hith ¥ 4,532 1,484
705,310 619,260

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$131,262,000 (2019: HK$119,836,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.
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RB|EHK  NEBUARBFEZRS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A% R MY EE

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

20. SHARE CAPITAL

20. RA&
(a) Share capital of the Company (a) ZAATERAE
Ordinary shares Preference shares
EER Bxk
Number of Ordinary Number Preference
shares share capital of shares share capital
Rir#A EERRE RH#E BrRBE
000 HK$'000 000 HK$’000 HK$°000
& FER & FEn 72
Authorised: AIE
At 1st April 2018 RZE-/\§MA—-H
— HK$0.01 each — BREE001 AT 40,000,000 400,000 30,000,000 300,000 700,000
Share Consolidation (note) ka4 A (36,000,000) - (27,000,000) - -
At 31st March 2019, RZE-NE=A=1-
1st April 2019 and B ZZ-AEMA-
31st March 2020 AR=2-%%=F
=t-A
— HK$0.1 each — BREBE0.1 %L 4,000,000 400,000 3,000,000 300,000 700,000
Issued: BT
At 1st April 2018 RZZ-N\§MA-A 2,725,808 27,258 — — 27,258
Share Consolidation (note)  &AAH(HZ) (2,453,227) — — — —
At 31st March 2019, RZE-NE=A=1-
1st April 2019 and R ZZ-N§MmA-
31st March 2020 BR-Z-Z4=A
=1+-A 272,581 27,258 - — 21,258

Note:

On 26th March 2019, the Company completed the consolidation

of every ten issued and unissued existing shares of HK$0.01

each into one consolidated share of HK$0.10 each and every

ten unissued preference shares of HK$0.01 each into one

preference share of HK$0.10 each (the “Share Consolidation”).

Bt

RZZE—NF=ZA=+"H QR TEE
F+REREEOC.01BITZEBITRMARE
TRERGEH R —REREEO10EITL
AU - AREETIRERMEEO0.01 /57T
ZMARBITEERE M A REBIREEO0.10
B2 BER(TIRNHEM]) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

20. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Share options of the Company

On 4th September 2014, the shareholders of the
Company approved the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “2014 Scheme”). Under the terms of the
2014 Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer
share options to any employee, agent, consultant
or representative of the Company or any subsidiary,
including any executive or non-executive director of
the Company or any subsidiary or any other person
whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group (the
“Participants”). The principal purpose of the 2014
Scheme is to reward the Participants who have
contributed or will contribute to the Group and to
encourage the Participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
2014 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of

ten years commencing on the adoption date.

The movement in the number of share options
outstanding and their related weighted average exercise

price are as follows:

20. BRAE&(#)

(b)

RABERE

R-F-—NFNLAMB » ARAIR
RitERABERESE(T=F—0
Farall) BE-T—WFFEZ
G EEgAURBRARRLE
MHEARZEMER - KIE - E
MK BREFSREBHEN
15 1 B 39 A 5 [ 4R b B B Sk 4 1
FRUZ AR B S AL A& 2 B 2 A
AT IEMITE ST HEMEMA
T((2EEDELBERE —F
—MEFEEIEEERBHAKE
EHEBABELER 2 28%
WEB2EEARRBREBRIRZ
ERNARBE SHREALXRRF
REBRMHZBE - —F—MNF:tE
mERA BB - BEREATE -

REE

kT R
BT T EMT -

Weighted
average
exercise price Number of
per share share options
SR MEFY
TEE BREHE
HK$
BT
As at 1st April 2018 RZZE—N\FWMA—H 0.115 73,232,000
Adjustment as a result of the Share ~ FE & & M FHE
Consolidation — (65,908,800)
As at 31st March 2019 R=E=14EE f ==
and 1st April 2019 kRZT—hFMA—A 1.15 7,323,200
Granted during the year FREL 0.82 7,608,000
As at 31st March 2020 RZT_TF=R=+—H 0.98 14,931,200

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 Y &

31st March 2020 —E-_FTF=A=+—H

20. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Share options of the Company (continued)

The share options are exercisable commencing on the
date of grant with a validity period of 10 years from
the date of grant (i.e. 7,323,200 and 7,608,000 share
options granted on 16th August 2017 and 26th June
2019, respectively). As at 31st March 2020, none of the
share options granted have been exercised.

The fair value of the share options granted during
the year ended 31st March 2020, determined using
a binomial model, was approximately HK$3,433,000.
The Group had recognised a share option expense of
HK$3,433,000 during the year ended 31st March 2020.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31st March 2020 was determined
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
share options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

Expected dividend yield (%) 0.000
Expected volatility (%) 74.808
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.830
Expected life of share options (year) 10.000

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
14,931,200 share options outstanding under the 2014
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 14,931,200 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of HK$1,493,000 and share premium of
HK$13,139,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 14,931,200 share options
outstanding under the 2014 Scheme, which represented
approximately 5.5% of the Company’s shares in issue as
at the date.

20. RA&(#)

(b)

FARBARRE(E)
BhEagREBABIZZ—LFAN
H+7xA)# aJrT%fﬂf B R

10F(BID RN =ZE—tFNA T+~
BE-ZE—AFENA-+BRLE
2 7,323,20017 K 7,608,000 17 & B%
) R—ZT-_FTFE=ZA=+—8"
MER 2 BREEETE -

N-ZBAEXNEERBEE_ZT =%
FZA=Z1+—RALEERHZER
R A (EX) 3,433,000 7T  ANEH
EREE—_FT=_EF=A=+—H
IEFEHREARERR X 3,433,000 7%

JC ©

RBEE_Z_FF=-HA=t—HLt
FERHZINERGEE 2 BREZ
AAEREHB#MER —BARK
EE YEZERERLBRE K
KRG - TRIVMERZEAZ
WABUE

TEEAR% B (%) 0.000
TEHRR 18 (%) 74.808
[ B ) 2 (%) 1.830
TE ERRE AR AEF HA (6F) 10.000

TR HDR I8 S MUB R IR R AR KRB S
Z?a’fEZ{E’*“ AN —ERE
Ig/i?\mn

RETAAERER - WEFNE
R B2 R -

RIEBRR AR T —HF
=t 2 18 T F 14,931,200 14 &k 17
FRERRE - BIBEAARREGE RS
B ZERBREERETEESE
AN AE)EE1TRHN 14,931,200 % X
R - %ﬁﬁl\14930005%7‘cﬂﬁ$&
13,139,000 7 JT A% 17 ' & (FA R
) o

RitELETEHRERBH K
REAlR T —NFEHEBEBTAE
14,931,200 15 & AR AT (L B AR 8 - 1
REBARRIEEITRHAS.5% °
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

172

The cumulative translation adjustments represent cumulative foreign

exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial

statements of operations outside Hong Kong which are dealt with in

accordance with the accounting policy for foreign currency translation

as set out in note 2.30 to the financial statements.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR

21. RESERVES 21. #E
Share Cumulative
Share Contributed option translation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve  adjustments losses Total
(note)
RiyEE Efms BRERE  ZiRERE 2itEE 3
(Hit)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Balances at 1st April 2018 RZF-NEMA-AZ&EG 136,369 956,292 4,684 24,138 (246,056) 875,421
Profit for the year ERg] - - - - 110,153 110,153
Currency translation differences of  §iMER EHAEEE
foreign operations — — — (24,038) — (24,038)
Total comprehensive income EnzEk&LE
for the year — — — (24,038) 110,153 86,115
Balances at 31st March 2019and ~ RZF-NE=RA=1+-Ak
1st April 2019 “E-NERA-BzER 136,369 956,292 4,684 100 (135,903) 961,542
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 110,976 110,976
Currency translation differences of BN EHK 7 EHAEEE
foreign operations - - - (14,745) - (14,745)
Total comprehensive income FREEYELE
for the year - - - (14,745) 110,976 96,231
Equity-settled share-based NEREERARD TSRS
transactions (note 20(b)) (Hz20) - - 3,433 - - 3,433
Balances at 31st March 2020 RZZE-E5=A=1-H
288 136,369 956,202 8,117 (14,645) (4927) 1,061,206
Note: wizE
Cumulative translation adjustments B ENELE

REtERBRIERE T B HINELS 2B RRANE
27 REHSMNEZE - THIRIREI TSR EE 2.30 FTHR
BRASNEIME 7 SRR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS { No—
B 7 R 3k M &=
31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H
22. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 22. RITRHEMEE
2019
—Z-NEF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$°000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BB iR
F £ (%) A FET F= (%) plpei]= FEr
Bank loan — RITER —
secured BEA 1.77 2020 48,598 — — —
Other loans — HER —
secured BIEH 7.00 2020 974 — — —
Other loans — HihER —
secured gl 6.36 2020-2022 10,436 — — —
60,008 —
2019
—ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Analysed into: PR
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZERK 53,697 =
Over one year HBid—F 6,311 —
60,008 —

Notes:

(a) As at 31st March 2020, the Group’s bank borrowing of
HK$48,598,000 was secured by the Group’'s quoted
investment of HK$70,884,000 (note 17) and other borrowings
of HK$11,410,000 were secured by the Group’s finance lease
receivables of HK$12,095,000 (note 16(b)) and deposits of

HK$2,215,000 (note 16(c)).

(b) As at 31st March 2020, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
of HK$48,598,000 and HK$11,410,000 were denominated in

US$ and RMB, respectively.

@

RZTE-_TF=A=+—H NEERT
f&s 548,598,000/ TIA KN K B REKE
70,884,000 7% 7T (i 3£ 17) YEHE 38 - i E fth
&5 11,410,000 8 7T B AR SR B R &5 10 &
U 3118 12,095,000 7 7T (i 3£ 16(b)) K 3%
2,215,000 % 7T (M3 16(c) ) 1EE R ©

R-ZF_TF=A=+—H8 A5EETK
H ftb & & 48,598,000 7% JT & 11,410,000 7
TR RIAETRAREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS )
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ESRENREREMENSTIE

2019
—ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade and bills payables (note (a)) B SEMNFIENENZE(H T (a)) 1,114,272 471,190
Accrual for operating expenses KEBH Y Y 165,993 130,504
Receipts in advance TEYFRIE 3,681 10,812
Contract liabilities (note (b)) AR’ (b)) 246,701 121,415
Deposits received (note 26) Bz E (#1127 26) 21,319 46,526
Other payables H fth FE < 5K IE 24,096 13,570
1,576,062 794,017
Notes: Bt -
(a)  The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on the (a) EBIENRERENEREZERAH KRR
invoice date, is as follows: DT :
2020 2019
—E-2F —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
90 days or less 90 HE AT 1,015,791 267,342
91 to 180 days 91 HE180H 38,085 142,619
181 to 270 days 181AZE 2708 25,201 8,812
271 to 365 days 271H%E365H 32,582 56,710
Over 365 days B8 365 H 2,613 1,207
1,114,272 471,190

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills payables

=

B 5 RNFRRENEENREETIA T

denominated in the following currencies: BHGHE -
2020 2019
—E-BHF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong dollar B IT 15,754 7,466
US dollar e 42,507 170,515
RMB AR 31,695 29,973
Japanese Yen H 1,023,273 261,889
Other currencies Hih ¥ 1,043 1,347
Total FEE 1,114,272 471,190

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 23. EZENREREMENRIE L)
Notes: (continued) Hiat - ()
(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) ABHBBEZFBHT :
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Short-term advances received from [R] &5 W HR ) 22 B Bt K
customers
Sale of goods HEMMm 246,701 121,415
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from AREBERERNEP KIS Em kR
customers to deliver goods and render services. The increase in REz2REBRR - BE_S_TFRK=_F
contract liabilities during the years ended 31st March 2020 and —NF=ZA=T—BLEFENGNEENZ
2019 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances MEZHERFRIIFEHS MRS UEH
received from customers in relation to the sale of machinery at R EREAFRIE AN -
the end of the year.
24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24, HEGE
31st March 1st April
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NEF
=H=+-—H MA—H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
Current B 15(b) 13,041 5,799
Non-current IERE) 15(b) 11,483 10,045
24,524 15,844
DEFERRED TAX 25. EELEHIEA

25.

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under
the liability method using the applicable tax rates which are
expected to apply at the time of reversal of the temporary

differences.

BEREFIATIRIE B EA R A BN R LT
REERERERHERERZEAE -
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5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities), without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

25.

IEIERLIE (£)

N M Z B HAR R 7DEE R N4
BT EEHEBEEE (BE)Z2280
T

Impairment
loss
allowance
against
Accelerated trade
tax and other  Provision of
depreciation  receivables  inventories Total
g5 REM
MEHE EWREZ
E HRESREE FERE Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET FHET
At 1st April 2018, 31st March 2019 and H=-Z—/\FMA—H -
1st April 2019 —T-NEFE=A=+t—-Hk
—NEmMA—H (685) 2,058 191 1,564
Deferred tax credited to the statement of FRRIBRER A A
profit or loss during the year (note 10)  ZEEFIE(A1: 10) — (751) — (751)
At 31st March 2020 R=ZE-FF&=A=1+—H (685) 1,307 191 813

As at 31st March 2020, the Group had unrecognised deferred
tax assets of HK$11,391,000 (2019: HK$10,473,000), primarily
representing the tax effect of cumulative tax losses (subject
to agreement by relevant tax authorities) which can be carried
forward indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the enterprise income tax law of the PRC, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1st
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31st December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%
or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1st
January 2008.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR

WN-EBE-ZEE=ZFR=+—H KXEEzX
BRELERBEEA11,391,000%8 T(=
T — AL : 10,473,000/870) © EBHEZR
AREEE(ESHBERBERERE) 2
MEHE ZoBAERPEE - BRZ
#Eﬂax BE —BREHRSEEEZWBA

BRAD KO REH FE R T A AR
ﬁéﬁlﬁ}éiﬁ%a D Bh R R IR
MIAEE -

RIEPEDERERE - R E A
ZINERERBIMEEES IR 2R EEH
M10% B - ZBRER_STNF—
A—HRERWERR-_ZEZ+F+-A
=+—BREAZEF - HMPBEAKEE
INEEEFTEREERERIBHERE
AR R AEME 2 AR - i A% R
Mms > WRARRAE5%5H10% > EIt » &
SEEAEARFPREANMAKT ZHER A
RHE_ZEENF—A—ARBREEZAFE
B2 R B BMIBINF -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A% R MY EE

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

\./

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. RIEFIIE(E)
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated HRRERNBHE AR ZIRE AR SR
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which ERBRBEIARRECREEERENR
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled T-TF=A=+—H%11,376,000/8 T
approximately HK$11,376,000 (2019: HK$5,827,000) at 31st T —h4F :5827,00087L) °c EER
March 2020. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable B ZEWB R R A KR KRR DK
that these subsidiaries will distribute these unremitted ZERBMIEINT 2 REL AT o
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes in the
foreseeable future.
26. DEPOSITS RECEIVED 26. 2WIRE
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deposits received from lessees Bl AR AZ S 37,982 67,261
Less: current portion (note 23) L REE D (B 23) (21,319) (46,526)
Non-current portion Z 16,663 20,735
27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 27. HERERERMWE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$22,471,000 and HK$22,471,000,

respect of lease arrangements for office properties and

warehouses (2019: Nil).

respectively, in

(a) EEHFRERH

FR AEEBBENRRCENERE
EHERHECFRAEEEREESR
BEZIERERE S A 22,471,000
7T 222,471,000 To(Z T — N
Fom) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B &

31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

(b)

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 27. MERESRERMET ()
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Cash flows from operations (b) EBEMELEZEERE
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash R P75 50 A v A1) B AR 0 B P A
flows from operating activities: 2R mE SR B
2020 2019
—B-EF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FREIT F&T
Profit before income tax: R B 45 250 Al g A 141,237 137,578
Adjustments for: P -
Finance income AR UA (9,463) (2,669)
Finance costs BB R 2,886 3,041
Changes in fair value of financial BRARBEFABRZZEH
assets at fair value through BEZARBEED
profit or loss 7,453 (716)
Depreciation of property, plant Y BREREEITE
and equipment 19,319 21,806
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EREZENE 13,238 —
Gain on disposal of items of HEME - BEREE
property, plant and equipment, HE 2 Wz - FE
net (1,766) (33)
Provision/(reversal) of impairment B 5 EUBGRIBR B R E
of trade receivables, net J(BE) - B8 1,575 (1,458)
Reversal of impairment of finance A& M E R WGRIERUE
lease receivables, net D - FEE (1,496) (810)
Write-off of trade receivables i $H E 5 e MR IE — 762
Impairment of obsolete inventories BRTFERE — 808
Equity-settled share option R EE 2 BIRER S
expense 3,433 —
176,416 158,309
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEM), R (814,816) 94,653
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 FE Y5k IE K H b fE UL
other receivables FRIA(IE ) R (45,806) 197,508
Increase in trade and other & 5 MR IE K E A e T
payables SRIEIE N 790,429 27,765
Net cash flows from operations EEMEEAZRSREFHE 106,223 478,235

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

()

(d)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

27.

¢ Ny

N/
mEBERERMTEE)
() MEIZBDEL>EESH

Lease Bank and other
liabilities borrowings
HEEE RITREMEES
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
At 1st April 2018 RZZE—\FHA—H — —
New bank loans IBIRITE R — 7,925
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER = (7,925)
At 31st March 2019 R=T—hF=A=+—H — =
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 HNE B ks 4R
F16H e 15,844 —
At 1st April 2019 R-ZE—AFMA—A 15,844 —
New bank and other borrowings FIERITREMEER — 207,536
Repayment of bank and other BERITRAMEE
borrowings — (147,528)
New leases MHEE 22,471 —
Interest expenses FBEZH 1,013 —
Lease payments HERRK (13,785) —
Foreign exchange movement SINE B (1,019) —
At 31st March 2020 R-_ZE-_ZTF=A=+—H 24,524 60,008
Total cash outflow for leases (d) HAEZRERHBAE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

ReneXkMBEHEEZRSR LA

IR

2020
e i

HK$’000

FET

Within operating activities RN 18,808
Within financing activities BEEEHA 12,772
31,580
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31st March 2020 —E—ZEF=A=+—H

28.

29.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31st March 2020, the Group had banking facilities of
HK$990,828,000 (2019: HK$765,402,000) from several banks
for loans, trade financing and treasury investment. As at 31st
March 2020, banking facilities of HK$678,956,000 (2019:
HK$332,953,000) were utilised by the Group.

As at 31st March 2019, a banking facility of HK$5,000,000
was secured by the Group’s time deposit of HK$4,239,000.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March 2020, pledged deposits of HK$777,000
(2019: Nil) were held as security at a bank in respect of
performance bonds in favour of certain contract customers.
The guarantees given by the Group to certain banks in
respect of performance bonds and a standby letter of credit in
favour of certain contract customers and a supplier amounted
to HK$8,824,000 (2019: HK$1,403,000).

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR

28.

29.

RITEE

NZZ_ZTF=A=+—H A5ERE
= TR1TZRITRIE 990,828,000 7T (=
T — 4 : 765,402,000 8 T)IEAE K -
EoMERMBRE RZE-_ZTF=A
=+—H ' A&EEE 5 678,956,000
TT(=—Z — N4 : 332,953,000 7T ) 2 R
TELE o
R-_E—hAhEF=ZA=+—8" R7TH
# 5,000,000 ;T A A& B 2 F B F K
4,239,000 & JLIEIE AR -

RAREE
R-_TE-_ZTFE=ZA=+—8 B#H%KE
777,000 T (ZFE—NF: B)ERET

BHRFPESZBHRESNIRITIFER
o AEBHBEREETENRRP R —H
HERESZBORES RERERKRA
A TETRMEERS 8240008 (= F
— N4 : 1,403,000787T) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS o

\/
BT %6 3R % Y 3 |
31st March 2020 =2 =F&=H=+—H
30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. REHEZH
The Group as a lessee AEBEREBA
Operating lease commitments as at 31st March 2019 Ro-E-NF=ZF=1+—HZZELHEFX
b4
The Group leased certain of its office properties and AEERBELEHELRHEESTHAE
warehouses under operating lease arrangements. The MERRE - ZEWEZHERPNF—
leases for these properties were negotiated for terms E=Fo
ranging from one to three years.
At 31st March 2019, the Group had total future minimum RZE-NF=A=+—H0 XEERE
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases ECTEHE@F‘?F%ZTTEK%Z‘“%ﬁﬁfﬁZﬂi
falling due as follows: RxEHSETHAT
2019
—ZT-NEF
HK$'000
F&T
Within one year —FR 7,411
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ZENF(BREEERE) 10,448
17,859
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. BEAREIE
As at 31st March 2020, the Group did not have any significant RZZEZZTF=A=+—80 AEEUE
capital commitments (2019: Nil). ERERERFEE(ZZE—NF  £) -
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32.

33.

34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. HEEALZRS
Key management compensation of the Group AEBTEEEASHSE
The key management compensation of the Group other than REBEZEEEBEAB(RFEZHITESR
the executive directors for the year is as follows: SN Z BN ¢
2020 2019
—EB-F —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Salaries, allowances and bonuses < EBERIEAT 7,459 5,503
Equity-settled share option expenses D/{Tgi?ﬁ%ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁgsﬁﬁi 170 —
Retirement benefits — defined BIREH — REHKETE
contribution scheme 36 36
7,665 5,539
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 EEMWE 2 — S HBEHN B IREM T
to the financial statements. 8 e
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. BEREszEMIA

All financial assets of the Group as at 31st March 2020 and
2019 were financial assets at amortised cost except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss detailed in
note 17 to the financial statements.

All financial liabilities of the Group were financial liabilities at

amortised cost.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 34.

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
the Group adopted HKFRS 16 on 1st April 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
the comparative amounts in the financial statements were
not restated and continued to be reported under the
requirements of the previous standard, HKAS 17, and related

interpretations.

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR

AEEBR-_TE-_TFR-_T—NLF=A
=t RAZABERMEERIZENEKAZ
SRVEE  ERMISHRMGE 17 Frafiiz
BAAREABREZ SREERID

AEENAESRAERRBIEKATE
ZEEE-

LEBEF

HF B HKRM T2 2ME—FRE - K
SER-_T-NFOA-BRALERE
BERMT B BEHRELRNE 165 - RIE
ZNE BBBRZLBEBELEES
VB RBEATERT B ERIE 175
MR BEZRES
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. XRATMBMRRE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

n

RARREHE BRI & 2 E#Hn
™

2020 2019
—EIEF —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB RFEE 22 90
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZE 675,087 672,053
675,109 672,143
Current assets REEE
Other receivables b fE W 5RIB 207 307
Amount due from a subsidiary W — PRI BT B 2 Bl 3B 848 14,106
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEER 4,215 6,111
5,270 20,524
Total assets EEHAE 680,379 692,667
EQUITY s
Share capital A&7 27,258 27,258
Reserves (note) B () 651,411 570,902
Total equity R 678,669 598,160
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H fth A< R IE 1,710 1,178
Amount due to a subsidiary FE A — R B BB 2 R 3K 78 - 93,329
1,710 94,507
Total equity and liabilities EakEEERE 680,379 692,667
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(BF&)FH 3,560 (73,983)
Total assets less current liabilities ZBEABRREBAR 678,669 598,160
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

35. AQRMBAMRERAE)

Bt
ARAE EEHENT

Share Contributed Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
REE BEYER BRERE 2iER Bm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Balances at 1st April 2018 RZZT—\GWA—H &8 136,369 956,292 4,684 (514,617) 582,728
Loss for the year and total FRAEERFNZEANGEE
comprehensive income for the
year — — — (11,826) (11,826)
Balances at 31st March 2019 and R=F—HAE=A=+—HE
at 1st April 2019 “T-NFRA-AZEH 136,369 956,292 4,684 (526,443) 570,902
Profit for the year and total FRBNRFAZERREE
comprehensive income for the
year — — — 77,076 77,076
Equity-settled share-based IAEREE RURNNZR S
transactions (note 20(b)) (Hiz20(b)) — — 3,433 - 3,433
Balances at 31st March 2020 R-Z-_ZFE=F=1+—RAz&H 136,369 956,292 8,117 (449,367) 651,411

NORTH ASIA STRATEGIC HOLDINGS LIMITED bz KRB IZRER AR
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